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               Map 1

               Distribution of Catholics and Non-Catholics in Northern Ireland 1925. Figures are based on 1911 Census Returns (Map drawn by Sarah Gearty. A version was previously published in Michael Laffan, ‘The emergence of the two Irelands, 1912–25’, History Ireland (Winter 2004), p. 40.)
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               Map 2

               Claims to Northern Ireland territory made by the Free State Government based on religious statistics for Poor Law Unions. (Map drawn by Stephen Hannon, based on North-Eastern Boundary Bureau, Handbook of the Ulster Question (Dublin, 1923), p. 52, and previously published in Kevin Matthews, Fatal Influence: The Impact of Ireland on British Politics 1920–1925 (Dublin, 2004), p. 119.)
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               Revisions to the border envisaged by the Irish Boundary Commission. (Map drawn by Stephen Hannon, and previously published in Matthews, Fatal Influence, p. 225.)

            

         

      

   


   
      

         
            Introduction

            —

         

         This book is the first comprehensive history of the Irish Boundary Commission, from its emergence in the Anglo-Irish Treaty of 6 December 1921 to its outcome at the close of 1925. It is also the first large-scale attempt to consider its significance in the wider international context. The readers I have particularly in mind are students of Irish and British history during the period from 1886 to 1969; political scientists working in the relevant area, and Irish studies academics generally. I have, however, tried to make the work accessible to a wider general readership.

         The need for a boundary commission arose from the nature of the 1920 partition of Ireland, which left Northern Ireland with a largely dissatisfied Catholic minority comprising over one-third of its inhabitants. The provision in the Anglo-Irish Treaty for a mechanism to rectify this anomaly was a necessary condition for Nationalist Irish assent to the agreement as a whole: it was, and is, generally accepted on all sides that the Irish negotiators would not have subscribed to the Treaty in the absence of a boundary commission.

         Writing a history of the Commission necessarily involves taking account of the remote and proximate circumstances which led to it. These were: the Nationalist demand for Home Rule which divided Irish people into two irreconcilable camps, each claiming absolute legitimacy for its own stand point; British attempts from 1886 on to satisfy this demand; the partition of 1920 as a settlement for most Ulster Unionists but not for six-county Nationalists, or for the Unionists of Cavan, Donegal, Monaghan in particular, and the Free State in general; and the incorporation in the Anglo-Irish Treaty of a boundary clause both as a means of addressing northern Nationalist grievances with the 1920 boundary and of facilitating north-south political unity.

         The first two chapters of this book, which deal with Home Rule, partition and the Anglo-Irish Treaty, are designed to provide the background necessary to an understanding of the formation, conduct and outcome of the Commission. The third chapter deals with events between the signing of the Treaty and the establishment of the Commission in 1924. In this chapter the implications of this development and of Nationalist vacillation, equivocation, uncertainty and division over the merits of the Boundary Commission are explored. The significance of the general British reluctance to face down the Unionist threat of militant opposition to any finding by the Commission that would involve anything more than a minimal transfer of six-county territory to the Free State are closely analysed.

         During this period, both Irish and British statesmen were harbouring significant doubts about the utility of a commission, many of them favouring a negotiated settlement of the boundary by the parties affected. At the same time, members of successive British administrations publicly dissented from Free State interpretations of the boundary clause as giving warrant for substantial transfers of territory from north to south. As the time for the establishment of the Commission approached, there was a developing convergence of view between the British and Northern Ireland authorities that the Commission must not recommend more than minimal rectification of the boundary, against a background of Unionist threats of militant resistance to anything else. This position found theoretical support in the interpretation of the significance of the boundary clause advanced by Ulster Unionists, by those in power in Britain, and ultimately by the Chairman of the Commission, Justice Richard Feetham.

         This contentious interpretation goes to the heart of the boundary dispute which Feetham had to resolve. It centred on the view that Northern Ireland, even in the wake of the Treaty, could not be considered a new provisional entity created by the terms of the Treaty. It followed from this that it could not be subject to the large-scale revision demanded by Nationalists. Instead, it must be regarded as a pre-established entity created by the 1920 Government of Ireland Act. It therefore enjoyed prescriptive rights limiting the scope of the Treaty to effect minor territorial adjustments on either side of the 1920 boundary. It must end up, after the Commission had done its work, as substantially the same unit as that described in the 1920 Act.

         Much of this book deals with the high politics of the Irish boundary question and its ongoing significance. I have, however, in an analysis of the evidence given to the Commission (Chapter Four) considered the views of people on both sides of the border who might have been affected in their everyday lives by the outcome of its deliberations. This evidence is a valuable record of the texture of daily life in Ulster in the early 1920s. It is also a barometer of the heightened political and religious sentiment generated by partition, and by the Boundary Commission. It throws useful light on the multiple practical inconveniences which the 1920 border and the 1923 Free State customs barrier had brought about, and raises troubling questions about the economic desir ability of any border.

         Once Feetham had adopted his limited interpretation, the fate of the Nationalist case for substantial boundary revision was sealed. This and Feetham’s other views on the import of the boundary clause, and the decisions flowing from these, form the substance of Chapter Five. Another factor working to the advantage of Unionists was the transformation of British politics after the fall of Lloyd George’s Liberal-Conservative Coalition Government in November 1922. After that date, the position within the Empire of both parties to the boundary dispute was altered in favour of Unionism. Against the background of increasing Conservative and Unionist hostility to the terms of the Treaty, members of the Coalition Government most closely identified with it – including Birkenhead, Austen Chamberlain, Winston Churchill and Worthington-Evans – were obliged to rebuild their careers by publicly interpreting, or reinterpreting, the boundary clause in a restrictive sense. They also re-emerged as defenders of Ulster Unionism, and protectors of its integrity.

         The evolution of the idea of a boundary commission and, above all, the formulation in the Treaty of the task it was to perform gave rise to endless difficulties. The boundary clause – the work of the British negotiators – had no clear, indisputable meaning. It mentioned inhabitants whose wishes were to be consulted without indicating their geographical location. It provided no indication as to how the wishes of these unidentified inhabitants were to be ascertained, leaving it to the imagination and ingenuity of the Commissioners to apply it as they thought best. There was no indication whether large or small units were to be considered for transfer, or whether transfers were to be made in one or both directions. A week after the Treaty was signed, Asquith was at a loss to know whether the Commission was to operate by counties, by any specific areas or merely on an enumeration of population. All that Lloyd George would tell him was that those who framed the boundary clause had avoided giving specific directions of the kind mentioned by Asquith.

         How the Irish negotiators could have subscribed to such a clause still remains a mystery, as does the fact that de Valera’s Dáil Cabinet, having been afforded an opportunity to scrutinise it, failed to insist on a more sensible, workable provision. Griffith was made aware of the problem by his legal adviser, but failed inexplicably to pursue the matter. It is also surprising that those Irish politicians, including de Valera, who opposed the Treaty, appeared to be unaware of the pitfalls inherent in the boundary clause. In the aftermath of the Treaty, a long succession of British and Irish politicians and publicists displayed the utmost confidence in offering conflicting interpretations of this obscure but vital provision. The only interpretation that mattered in the end was Feetham’s. His findings aroused dismay both among northern Nationalists and Free State Government politicians. A common Nationalist reaction was that he had behaved throughout as a servant of the British Government and that his appointment as Chairman was based on the well-founded belief that his report would reflect the views of those who appointed him. In Chapter Five, which deals with Feetham’s judgements, I outline the evidence, never more than circumstantial, tending to reinforce or contradict this view.

         In addition, I consider the commonly-expressed view that the appointment of an English-born judge with conservative views as chairman of the Commission was inappropriate, if only because his impartiality was bound to come into question, even more emphatically so after his findings were revealed in a newspaper article before they were suppressed with the agreement of the main participating parties and did not come to public light until 1969. Misgivings about Feetham’s appointment were partly inspired by European parallels: post-war commissions were chaired by demonstrably neutral figures having no connection with the parties involved. In this case, it has to be borne in mind that the fixing of the Irish boundary dispute was seen by the British as one between two members of the Empire, and that the Westminster Government in appointing Feetham, a South African by adoption, was acting not as the Government of Britain but as the Imperial Government: a distinction, however, not easy to maintain in practice.

         The history of the Irish Boundary Commission is part of a larger European narrative. In Chapter Six, I locate those who participated in its evolution and proceedings in the wider international context. The Irish Commission was only one of many such bodies provided for in post-war treaty settlements with the purpose of fixing the frontiers of wartime belligerents. For this reason, I have thought it useful to go beyond Irish and British contexts to consider how European commission practice relates to the Irish case, and in particular what lessons are to be drawn by looking at Irish departures from European norms in the matter of ascertaining the wishes of the inhabitants of disputed areas. Some of the European parallels, examined in Chapter Six, are instructive: those with Upper Silesia, Klagenfurt, the Aaland Islands and Schleswig, for example. So too are some further afield: the Turk-Kurd conflict in Anatolia, and the French decision to add Muslim-majority territory to the Christian heartland of Mount Lebanon, with the purpose of creating a state large enough to be viable.

         In my further study, I analyse the Nationalist and Unionist positions on partition, self-determination, territorial integrity and secession (Chapter Seven) in the light of the considerable existing literature on evolving international norms. My main purpose in this chapter is to suggest that both positions have much to recommend them, and to indicate the difficulty of reconciling them, at any rate in their purest form. Through this close examination I come to the conclusion that neither the Unionist nor Nationalist case on partition can command unqualified assent.

         The Irish Boundary Commission, despite the considerable effort expended on all sides on research, propaganda, meetings, intensive lobbying and the preparation of large volumes of evidence, effected no change whatever in the boundary established in 1920. It might therefore be deemed a futile, wasteful exercise, scarcely worthy of serious investigation. It has, nevertheless, significant claims on our attention. Its incorporation in the Anglo-Irish Treaty made it possible for the Irish negotiators to sign the document, an act which soon plunged Nationalist Ireland into civil war, and engendered a sense of betrayal among Unionists. Controversy over its implications dominated British and Irish political discourse for long periods from early 1922 to late 1925, and occupied much parliamentary time in both countries. The seeming threat it represented to the integrity of Northern Ireland greatly strengthened the Ulster Unionist Party, as it adopted the role of aggressive defender of the territorial status quo, uniting all shades of Protestant opinion behind it on the single agenda of maintaining intact the 1920 boundary. Six-county Nationalists, and their political representatives, derived no ultimate benefit from the incorporation of a boundary clause in the Treaty. Encouraged by their leaders and southern politicians to expect considerable transfers of northern territory to the Free State, the generality of border Nationalists kept aloof from the political institutions of Northern Ireland to their ultimate detriment, allowing Unionists to assume long-term control of the great majority of public bodies, many of these traditionally Nationalist, and to shape these in their own long-term interests. The failure of the Commission to meet Nationalist expectations undermined the credibility of the Free State and enhanced that of its southern political opponents. One of the significant consequences of the Commission debacle was the emergence of Fianna Fáil in 1926 and the resulting transformation of southern Irish politics.

         The published material on Home Rule, the Ulster question, partition and the Anglo-Irish Treaty is vast. I build on this throughout my first three chapters. I have also drawn on a wide range of British and Irish archival materials: British and Irish parliamentary records; local and national newspaper reports; contemporary pamphlets and other primary sources.

         I take existing scholarly positions forward in a number of areas. Hitherto, discussion of the Irish boundary question has been predominantly in terms of its British and Irish contexts. I use extensive material on post-Versailles European and other boundary settlements to draw instructive parallels with the contemporary Irish one, and explore, in depth, the implications of these for discussion of the latter. My analysis of the submissions to the Commission and of the principles underlying Feetham’s judgement, the anomalies and apparent double standards involved in this, breaks new ground. Among these anomalies are Feetham’s willingness to override the wishes and interests of Mourne Catholics but not of Poyntzpass Protestants.

         The significance of Francis Bourdillon’s role as Secretary to the Boundary Commission has not hitherto been given the attention it deserves. In the year before his appointment, as Kevin Matthews has briefly noted, Bourdillon, who had worked on the Silesian Boundary Commission, submitted an advisory document to Lionel Curtis at the British Colonial Office on how the Irish boundary clause might be applied in the light of European experience. Bourdillon anticipated the fundamentals of Feetham’s approach to Irish boundary determination, particularly in its restrictive view of the territorial implications of the boundary clause. Bourdillon’s anticipation of Feetham, not hitherto analysed in the scholarly material, raises questions about the integrity of the Irish Commission, which I explore in this study. In this respect, the Bourdillon material is not unique. In early 1922, Feetham’s fellow-Commissioner, the Unionist representative J. R. Fisher, had advised Craig to seek the exclusion of the most troublesome part of Northern Ireland (South Armagh) and the inclusion of Donegal (at the expense of Fermanagh) and North Monaghan. Three years later, Feetham recommended two of these three areas for transfer, along with East Donegal.

         Bourdillon’s submission throws considerable light on European commission practice, specifically with regard to plebiscites, which he, in contrast to the British authorities, considered essential to boundary determination, advancing compelling reasons for this point of view. Bourdillon’s well-documented evidence in support of plebiscites in advance of boundary change reinforces the lessons I draw upon in Chapter Six from my analysis of the cases of Klagenfurt, Allenstein, Marienwerder, Upper Silesia and Schleswig.

         In Chapter Six, I also draw attention to the fact that the absence from the Anglo-Irish Treaty of formal guidelines to the interpretation of Article 12 made the Irish Boundary Commission an oddity among bodies of its kind. Another significant departure from Continental practice was that Article 12 conferred on the British Government, a contending party to the dispute, the right to appoint the Chairman of the Boundary Commission. European commissions, in contrast, were presided over by persons from countries with no vested interest in the disposition of disputed territory. In relation to this latter concern, I address the British point of view, which I find not entirely convincing, that the Irish dispute was between two members of the British Empire, the Irish Free State and Northern Ireland, and not between sovereign states, as was the case in Europe, and that it was therefore appropriate that the Chairman should be drawn from the Empire.

         There was the further British argument that in appointing a South African judge as Chairman, the Westminster Government was acting, not as the Government of Great Britain but as the Imperial Government. I point out that since the personnel of both these Governments was the same, this argument can scarcely carry conviction. On the Irish Nationalist side, it was commonly felt that Feetham’s British birth and conservative political views predisposed him to favour retaining the 1920 settlement virtually intact, a course which his final report recommended. No such argument could have been made had a demonstrably impartial figure, aloof from British or Irish interests, been appointed Chairman.

         It may be arguable whether justice was done by the Commission, or whether Feetham tried to act impartially, but my analysis makes clear that, given all the circumstances, justice was not, indeed could not, be seen to be done.

      

   


   
      
         

            ONE

            THE PARTITION OF IRELAND

            THE FORCES AT PLAY

            —

         

         I HOME RULE: THE IMPERIAL DIMENSION

         The formal implementation of partition in 1920 is best understood as the ultimate outcome of the Irish Nationalist demand for Home Rule, and of the attempts of successive British administration to satisfy this demand. For long periods between the British General Election of 1885 and the Tripartite Agreement between the British, Free State and Northern Ireland Governments in 1925, the Home Rule question became the predominant theme of English political debate, undermining governments, splitting the Liberal Party, unleashing furious passions, hatreds and prejudices, generating fears and insecurities among Irish Unionists for their future political, economic and religious prospects, and among Conservatives and Imperialists in general for the future of the British Empire. The Home Rule agitation threatened the conventions upon which the British Constitutional system depended. It saw British Privy Councillors inciting rebellion, and retired law officers of the Crown recommending armed resistance to an Act of the British Parliament, while Army officers prepared to resign their commissions rather than be obliged to move against such resistance. It also saw the leader of the Conservative opposition condoning violent action, if that were found necessary, to prevent Home Rule. The extended history of the Home Rule crisis illustrates the truth of Martin Gilbert’s comment that the cause of Ireland poisoned British politics. ‘The Conservatives,’ he observes, ‘remained convinced that Liberalism would betray Ulster,’ while the Liberals were confirmed in their view that the Conservatives would use the claims of Ulster as an excuse to disrupt an Irish settlement, and as an opportunity to kill Liberalism.1

         British Conservative politicians feared that the implementation of Home Rule, under a single Irish Parliament, inevitably dominated by Nationalists, would ultimately lead to the political separation of Ireland as a whole from the British Empire. Since 1800 the Act of Union had politically united Ireland to the rest of the United Kingdom. Preservation of the Union, and the political integrity of the British Isles and by extension of the Empire, was so fundamental to British Conservatives that they adopted the alternative name of Unionists as a token of this. As Lord Hugh Cecil put it to Bonar Law: ‘We are the Unionist Party: that is, we exist to oppose Home Rule.’2 Lord Salisbury, the Conservative Prime Minister from June 1885 to February 1886, and again from July 1886, objected to the First Home Rule Bill on the ground that Irish people as a collective, ‘like the Hindus and the Hottentots, were inherently incapable of self-government’.3 He was certain that the concession of Home Rule to Ireland would lead to the disintegration ‘not only of the polity of the United Kingdom, but also, as a result, to the disintegration of Britain’s Imperial position.’4 Democracy, Salisbury believed, ‘works admirably when it is confined to people of the Teutonic race.’5 Lord Randolph Churchill put it more starkly when he claimed that Home Rule would ‘plunge the knife in the heart of the British Empire.’6 

         In September 1912, the backbench Conservative peer Lord Willoughby de Broke assured a Loyalist attendance at Dromore, County Down, that English Unionists would rally to the cause of their Ulster brethren if Home Rule were forced upon them by Asquith’s ‘radical government’. He promised that such a government would find that it faced the opposition of more than Orangemen: ‘every white man in the British Empire would be giving support, either moral or active, to one of the most loyal populations who ever fought under the Union Jack.’7 Over a decade later, the threat that a boundary commission might represent to the integrity of Northern Ireland and by extension to that of the Empire, inspired one English Imperialist, W. Comyns Beaumont, to declare that ‘like many others I regard Ulster as the key question of the Empire’s maintenance – once weaken there and we are done.’ ‘For one,’ Beaumont promised, ‘I am ready at any time to fight for Ulster if she should be compelled to resist the vile intrigues employed against her.’8 F. E. Smith, the first Earl of Birkenhead, believed that Ireland could not be given even the limited measure of Home Rule envisaged by the Liberals without undermining, by contagion, British India and the worldwide Empire, and furthermore that Ireland occupied too important a strategic position on Britain’s Atlantic flank for Britain to permit an arrangement that might lead to secession. Like many contemporary British Conservative and Irish Unionist statesmen, Birkenhead found the Irish demand for Home Rule not only impossible, but also incomprehensible, not being able to understand how anybody could desire to cease being British. He had modified these views by the time he signed the Anglo-Irish Treaty, but neither he nor the other British negotiators was prepared to concede a degree of Irish freedom that might have made the British mainland less secure than it had been under the Union.9 

         In 1885, it was clear that disagreement over Home Rule and concern over its implications for Ulster and southern Irish Unionists had a decisive part to play in domestic British politics, and could be exploited to the detriment of its Liberal Party advocates. The British Conservatives had good reason to be concerned for the southern Unionist landlord class who feared that Home Rule under a Nationalist administration in Dublin would result in their own expropriation. Some leading British Conservatives were also Irish landlords, among them Lords Hugh and Robert Cecil, Halsbury, Selbourne and Walter Long. The southern Irish Ascendancy had close links with the governing landed class in England, which possessed overwhelming influence in the Conservative Party. The use for British Conservative Party advantage of Ulster Unionism, the most committed and effective part of the resistance to Home Rule, was most egregiously exemplified in the activities of Lord Randolph Churchill.

         In November 1885, Churchill wrote to Salisbury that the Conservatives had always been damaged by the monstrous alliance with ‘these foul Ulster Tories’. When, however, in 1886, Gladstone’s Liberal Party took up the cause of Irish Home Rule, Churchill became an instant champion of Ulster Unionist resistance to the measure, and, with other leading Conservatives, he incited Ulster Orangemen to revolt against it. In February 1886, he told a colleague that if Gladstone ‘went for Home Rule, the Orange Card would be the one to play’, something he did in Belfast during the same month. His violent rhetoric excited a vast crowd to frenzy, leading to ‘savage, repeated and prolonged’ disturbances.10 He urged Ulstermen to fight against Home Rule in the knowledge that men of ‘position and influence in England’ were willing to share their fortune. The tradition of militant Unionist opposition to Home Rule with British encouragement was perpetuated by a later generation of leading Conservatives, among them Joseph Chamberlain, Balfour and the Marquess of Hartington, who frequently visited Belfast to encourage Unionists to oppose Home Rule by violence if necessary. The British Imperialists were not dedicating themselves to the support of Ulster Unionists against Nationalists. The task they set themselves was to employ northern Unionism, particularly at times of political stress, as a barrier against the self-determination demanded by Irish nationalism, with all the dangers this would represent to the integrity of the Imperial heartland. A belief common among Conservatives, and many Ulster Unionists, was that if Ulster resistance made Home Rule impossible in the North, the measure would not, or could not, be imposed on Ireland as a whole or even in southern or western Ireland. Thus, encouragement of Ulster resistance could be seen as part of the Conservative fight for the integrity of the British Empire. The Conservative and Unionist case that an independent Ireland was a potential strategic danger to Great Britain was not unreasonable. Free State statesmen were determined that the Irish Army would be so equipped as to render it capable of ‘full and complete coordination with the forces of the British Government in the defence of Saorstát territory whether against actual hostilities or against violation of neutrality on the part of a common enemy.’11 A key element of de Valera’s foreign policy post-1932 was that ‘despite the continuing injustice of partition, the State would never allow itself to become a base against Britain.’12 

         The Liberals shared the Conservative assumption that on economic grounds alone, to concede to the Ulster demand for separate treatment, such as county option (the right of any county to opt out of a Home Rule parliament) or the right to be excluded as a unit from Home Rule, would mean abandoning the measure entirely. This assumption was based on the view that southern Ireland could not survive as an entity without the industrial strength of the North East. As a consequence of this shared analysis, the Liberals tended to ignore Ulster’s case for separate treatment, while during the early phase of the Home Rule controversy the Conservative strategy had twin elements: to support the Ulster case for exclusion on its own merits, and to foster the expectation that the success of this case would kill Home Rule. The Great War and the formation of a series of coalition governments in which the two parties shared power inevitably altered the Conservative approach, as Liberals as well as Conservatives came to accept Ulster exclusion. During the Home Rule debates, the Liberals showed occasional signs of willingness to compromise on Ulster. However, their reluctance to consider any specific compromise in depth was inspired by the fear that the Unionists might exploit any proposed compromise as a basis for demanding further concessions. 

         Conservative Ulster policy in the period leading to the introduction of the third Home Rule Bill by Asquith’s Liberal Government was often condemned by opponents as discreditable, opportunist and subversive. The militant resistance to Home Rule led by Bonar Law between 1912 and 1914 threatened to undermine fatally the British tradition of political compromise at times when the welfare of the nation and the Empire were at stake. Conservative policy at this stage, however, was in part dictated by the circumstances in which the party found itself, and by its perception of itself as the natural party of government. By the time Asquith introduced his Home Rule measure in 1912, the Conservatives had been in opposition for six years; the last Conservative administration, under A. J. Balfour, had been replaced in December 1905 by a Liberal one, under Campbell-Bannerman. The Home Rule issue seemed to present an opportunity for Conservatives to reassume their rightful role. In one sense, they had never fully relinquished this, even in opposition. Their control of the House of Lords gave them a permanent veto over legislation. This veto had been exercised in 1893 when the Lords rejected Gladstone’s second Home Rule Bill after it had been passed by the Commons. This situation, intolerable to Liberals and to large sections of public opinion, was partly remedied by the Parliament Act of August 1911, when the veto was limited to two years. The Conservative attitude to democratic governance was neatly described by Winston Churchill in 1911 when he complained to the King of ‘their claim to govern the country whether in office or in opposition and to resort to disorder because they cannot have their way’. In 1912, when Bonar Law asserted that he could imagine no limit to the resistance Ulster Unionists might mount against Home Rule in which he would not be prepared to support them, Churchill again made the appropriate comment: ‘the veto of violence has replaced the veto of privilege.’13

         II THE THREAT TO UNIONIST ASCENDANCY

         To dwell on the use of the Ulster question by Conservative Party strategists is not to say that considerations of party political advantage represented the sole basis for the support offered by that Party, and other people in Britain of like mind, to the Ulster Unionists. A large section of British opinion represented by the Conservatives was broadly sympathetic to the predicament of Ulster Protestants living under the threat of Home Rule, an ostentatiously loyal people facing the prospect of being cast out of the United Kingdom against their will and being governed by a Catholic Nationalist administration they could only abhor. As Boyce points out, these Ulster Protestants were supported, not only by the Conservative Party, ‘but by important sections of British conservative opinion, by administrators such as Lord Milner, soldiers like Lord Roberts, and even constitutional historians like A. V. Dicey.’14 On the other hand, Boyce also argues that as far as British Conservative opinion was concerned, the fate of Ulster, or of any part of Ulster, was always secondary to what were regarded as the interests of England and of the British Empire.15 This is exemplified in the attitude of Milner, who supported a federalist settlement of the Irish question before 1914 if this facilitated an accommodation between Nationalists and Unionists, and stabilised the Empire. For Milner, however, such an arrangement would have to be hedged with the proviso that this would be a final settlement and not lead to Irish political separation from Britain and the Empire. Conservative Party views on Ulster resistance to Home Rule underwent considerable modification between 1886 and 1921 in response to changing political circumstances at home and abroad. In 1886, the Conservative Party supported Loyalist resistance to Home Rule in the interests of British and Imperial solidarity. By the time the Anglo-Irish Treaty was being negotiated in 1921, however, Imperial unity seemed to demand a settlement between northern Loyalists and Sinn Féin involving some form of Irish unity as the likeliest means of keeping Ireland within the British Imperial system. 

         It would be a mistake to assume that in their struggle against Home Rule, the Ulster Unionists were preoccupied first and foremost with the welfare of the United Kingdom and of the Empire. The primary aim of all their efforts was the retention of their traditional privileges as part of a Protestant ascendancy, a position that had been inherited by them from their seventeenth-century ancestors. To maintain these privileges along with their British birthright and citizenship, they were prepared to resort to extra-legal measures if necessary. Self-interest, even self-preservation, seemed to demand no less. In 1924, Craig’s Government prepared some briefing notes on the boundary question in which the British Government was reminded that ‘the people of Ulster,’ by which was meant the Protestants of the six counties, ‘have always been very tenacious of their rights as citizens of the United Kingdom and hold fast by the Union Jack and other symbols of loyalty to the Crown and to British traditions.’16 The Union was seen as conferring important privileges on Protestant Loyalists, as the Constitutional form best designed to protect Irish Protestants from subjugation to a Catholic majority. Thus, ‘by defining their nationality as British rather than Irish, the Union incorporated them within a broader Protestant majority’17 and enabled them to contribute significantly to the common development of the British Isles and the British Empire.18 The danger to Ulster Protestantism, threatened by Home Rule, united the two main strands of northern Unionism: the Presbyterian-Liberal element and the Protestant Ascendancy element. Leading Ulster Liberals and the great majority of their followers received Gladstone’s announcement of his support for Home Rule with consternation, ‘assuming that he had changed his mind for narrow party advantage in order to retain power, which he was able to do after joining with the Nationalists to defeat Lord Salisbury’s Government on 27 January 1886.’19 The Home Rule threat contributed to the heavy defeat of the Liberal candidate in the mid-Armagh by-election on 1 February 1886. The anti-Home Rule Liberals, henceforth known as Liberal Unionists, collaborated with their erstwhile opponents in a united front against the Home Rule Bill. The depth of Ulster Liberal resentment at the news of Gladstone’s ‘betrayal’ of the interests of Ulster Unionism is conveyed in Thomas MacKnight’s account of his breaking the news to Sir Edward Cowan, the leading Ulster Liberal. When MacKnight informed Cowan that Gladstone had ‘gone over to the Home Rulers’, Cowan could only reply: ‘It means to us utter ruin.’20 MacKnight’s memoir is a lengthy defence of the claim that it was Gladstone who betrayed Ulster Liberalism rather than vice versa. 

         Ulster Unionists were fortunate in the quality of their leadership at this point in their history. Two remarkable men led their campaign against Home Rule. The first was Sir Edward Carson, a southern Unionist born in Dublin, a brilliantly successful barrister and a Unionist MP for Dublin University from 1892 to 1918, who was elected leader of the Irish Unionist Party in 1910. His total opposition to Home Rule prompted him to take up the cause of northern Unionists, the grouping most likely to be adversely affected by its implementation. The other influential Unionist leader was Sir James Craig, who fought against the Boers in South Africa and exercised a leadership role in the Orange Order and the Ulster Unionist Council. His most celebrated political remark was to be: ‘Ours is a Protestant Government and I am an Orangeman.’ 

         The rhetoric of Carson and Craig is characterised by persistent references to the devotion of their followers to the Empire, as contrasted with the disloyalty of other Irish people. Such rhetoric served Unionists well in winning the sympathy of British statesmen for their cause. It is a matter for debate whether the loyalty of Ulster Unionists to the Empire was ever more than conditional, and contingent upon having their own wishes and self-interest gratified. Craig was particularly skilled at presenting Unionist opposition to Home Rule as a necessary defence of an Imperial birthright. In 1912, he argued that there were certain rights and privileges that might be filched away from his followers in the event of Home Rule. Above all, there was ‘a hereditary stake in the Empire which did not belong to them, which was not theirs to part with, which they never intended to surrender.’21 At the twelfth of July demonstration in 1914, Craig placed Unionist Ulstermen at the heart of the historical defence of the Empire. They were the men, he declared, ‘who helped to raise the tottering standard of their Empire into safety under the deadly Boer fire, and they had mourned and not forgotten their Ulster comrades who fell on South African soil, their deaths cheered by treacherous Irish voices.’ The treacherous Irish who supported the Boers against the Empire were the very men ‘who now demanded of a British Government the lives and liberties of loyal and free Ulstermen as purchase money for their false friendship.’22 Ulster Unionists also liked to remind the British that the part played by their ancestors in the Siege of Derry had saved the Empire in the seventeenth century from the Roman Catholic threat, newly posed in the twentieth century by Home Rule, against which Unionists would be obliged to make another stand.23 Here we may observe the Unionist deployment of history to strengthen the emotional and historical links between Great Britain and the Protestants of Ulster, in an attempt to give Unionists what Ian MacBride calls ‘a central place in the myth of the unfolding British connection.’24 The weight of modern academic commentary is on the side of Alvin Jackson when he argues that Ulster Unionists had little interest in the Empire except as a resource to advance their own aims, an instrument to be used for dealing with the problems posed for them locally by Home Rule.25 

         R. J. Smith, in a well-argued personal submission to the Irish Boundary Commission, found evidence of Ulster Unionist indifference to the welfare of the Empire in the resistance of its leaders to any reasonable concession to democratic claims by the rest of Ireland for the amendment of the 1920 Government of Ireland Act. Great Britain, Smith remarked, ‘may be embarrassed and endangered, the Free State may be smashed up and driven to civil war in which the British must become involved. Nevertheless Unionist Ulster will not budge an inch.’ ‘Does that attitude,’ Smith asked, ‘indicate a sincere and self-sacrificing devotion to the interests of the Empire to which they have been given so much lip service and not more help in the war than the Redmondite volunteers gave?’26 John Redmond’s Home Rule Volunteers, it might be argued on the basis of actions as well as words, were, along with their leader, at least as loyal to the welfare of the Empire as Ulster Unionists were. It is reasonable to suggest that Craig’s Imperialism was based on his view of the British Empire and the British culture it embodied as a fundamentally Protestant phenomenon, with the result that his Imperialism was essentially religious, a function of his Protestantism, and, hence, narrowly focused, as exemplified in his frequent emphasis of the part played by Ulster Protestants in its extension and defence.

         The generality of Irish Unionists, whether in Ulster or elsewhere, could see no good reason for the imposition of a radical new political settlement, given their satisfaction with the status quo, and given that they were the main beneficiaries of the fruits of the Act of Union, although Carson would also argue that the people as a whole, and not merely the Protestant ascendancy, had prospered as a consequence of being part of the United Kingdom. The benefits listed by Carson included local self-government, an educational system created out of Imperial taxation, University education and generous land purchase schemes.27 For Carson, Home Rule would involve the degradation of Ireland into a province. He regarded the struggle for the preservation of the Union as an assertion and defence of British standards: honour, decency, integrity in public life, justice and the civilising force of Empire, along with English valour and common sense.28 The attribution of such admirable qualities to those who subscribed to the British way of life, especially Ulster Unionists, who were characterised by Carson as exhibiting the virtues of honesty, plainness, suffering and a sense of duty, implied that enemies of the Union, in this case English Liberals and Irish Catholics, were characterised by ‘their deviousness, deceit in pursuit of self-interest, cowardice, and a Roman style of ornate ambiguity.’29 

         Viewed in the larger historical context, the Home Rule issue was the culminating phase in the struggle for the supremacy between the two communities in Ireland. Throughout the nineteenth century, Irish Protestants had been obliged to accept repeated major concessions to the Catholic majority: Catholic Emancipation, the disestablishment of the Church of Ireland, land reform, and the abolition of the Grand Jury system. This was against the background of the growing assertiveness of the Catholic Church. With the continuous prospect of Home Rule, what remained of the traditional predominance of Protestants, particularly in Ulster, was threatened. Their response to a policy that would establish a Catholic ascendancy in place of their own is well described by Beckett: ‘They refused to acquiesce any longer. Irish Protestants of the 1660s had declared that they would not suffer the lands they had won by their swords to be filched from them by Ayes and Noes: their successors of the early 1900s were equally contemptuous of parliamentary procedure in a matter that, as they believed, affected not their property only, but their lives and religion, and they made ready to receive a Home Rule Act, if one should be passed, with rifles and machine-guns.’30

         The Ulster Unionist leadership could not accept the prospect of a new parliament, based in Dublin, and dominated by Catholic Nationalists. They and their followers were convinced, having experienced Catholic Nationalism in action, that Nationalist politicians were constitutionally incapable of governing the country fairly and completely, or of bringing stability and peace. Carson deplored the role of Home Rule MPs in inciting Irishmen to murder landlords and their agents, and in promoting violence and intimidation. Foreseeing that a Home Rule dispensation would greatly extend the political influence of the Catholic Church, Unionists could only see in this outcome a threat to their Protestant values. The traditional Protestant view of Catholicism as the religion of materially and intellectually backward people also coloured Unionist attitudes to its feared dominance. If Ireland had to endure political separation from Great Britain under Home Rule, the most progressive and intelligent elements in Irish life, the descendants of the British planters, would no longer be able to exert their influence in favour of high culture and progressive ideas. One of Carson’s southern associates foresaw under Home Rule ‘a desert of dead uniformity, where the poor will have no one to appeal to except the priest or the local shopkeeper … where lofty ideals, whether of social or Imperial interest, will be smothered in an atmosphere of superstition, greed and chicanery.’31 The only realistic accommodation with Nationalism that Carson could envisage was outlined by him in early 1921. No one, he explained, would be more pleased to see ‘an absolute unity in Ireland’ than he would, but this would have to involve all Irish people together ‘within the Empire, doing our best for ourselves and the United Kingdom and for His Majesty’s Dominions.’32 

         Ulster Unionists successfully and understandably employed the argument that Home Rule under a Dublin Parliament would have ruinous consequences for the Ulster economy, above all for Protestant businessmen, who dominated economic life in the area. One index of this dominance was that in 1893, when the second Home Rule Bill was being debated, 97 per cent of the membership of the Belfast Chamber of Commerce was Protestant.33 In that year, the Chamber voted unanimously for a resolution rejecting any dilution of the Union through Home Rule. In an address to Gladstone, the members pointed out that all economic progress in Ulster had been made under the Union. At the end of the eighteenth century Belfast had been a small, disaffected, insignificant town hostile to the British Empire; since the Act of Union it had made unprecedented economic advances. They could not accept the proposition that they should be driven by force to abandon the political arrangement which had facilitated that success.34 In August 1886, Thomas MacKnight, a disillusioned Ulster Liberal, asked the Chairman of Harland and Wolff, William Pirrie, whether it were true that in the event of Home Rule his firm would withdraw their great shipbuilding works from Belfast and take them to the Clyde, Pirrie answered that it certainly would. Other leading Belfast businessmen told MacKnight that under a Dublin Home Rule Parliament there would be no security for life or property, no fair play for Loyalists, and an absence of commercial confidence. Belfast would not continue to prosper, and its great industrial enterprises would have to seek a home on the other side of the Irish Sea.35

         Ulster Unionist determination to engage in acts which amounted to open defiance of the authority of the Westminster Parliament exposed a paradox at the heart of Ulster loyalism. On the one hand, no other grouping on the island was as ardent in its profession of loyalty to British governance or as determined to persist in the benefits flowing from it. On the other hand, these same Loyalists were ready to offer armed resistance to an Act of parliament and to the Constitution under which they sought to be governed as subjects of the King. Ulster Unionists, however, had their distinctive way of reconciling these apparently contradictory positions. A significant element in Unionist thinking, traceable to the controversies over the disestablishment in 1869 of the Church of Ireland during Gladstone’s premiership, was that the position of Irish Protestants within the United Kingdom was an essential part of the British Constitution, and was not subject to alteration by any Parliament.36 This was one of the arguments taken up by Lord Randolph Churchill in the course of his inspirational address to Unionists in the Ulster Hall in 1886, when he was inciting opposition to Gladstone’s first Home Rule Bill. Churchill refused to accept that so ‘gigantic’ an innovation as Home Rule ‘could be accompanied by the mere passing of a law’ by the British Parliament.37

         Ulster Unionists saw a clear distinction between loyalty to the Crown and loyalty to the government of the day. Their political thinking on this matter belonged less to the nineteenth or twentieth centuries than to the seventeenth, when contractarian theories of government had been in vogue. These theories were founded on an imagined agreement between a ruler and his people. They formed the ideological basis for the ‘Glorious Revolution’ of 1688, honoured ever since by Ulster Unionists as the wellspring of their civil and religious liberties. As seventeenth-century Whigs understood it, the English Constitution was founded on an original contract, somewhat vague in origin, between prince and people. Between 1685 and 1688 the Catholic James II had attempted to subvert the Constitution, and thereby to break the contract, by violating existing corporate rights in extending toleration to Catholics and nonconformists by unconstitutional means. William of Orange restored the Constitution, and Protestant pre-eminence was one of the foundations of the Williamite settlement. Loyalists assembled at the great Ulster Unionist Convention of June 1892 were told by the Liberal Unionist Thomas Sinclair that all those opposed to Home Rule were ‘children of the revolution of 1688’, who would have nothing to do with a Dublin parliament.38

         The Gladstonian impulse towards Home Rule was seen by Unionists as another attempt to undermine the British Constitution, whose twin pillars – the Williamite settlement and the Act of Union – loyal Ulstermen were determined to defend, even when the threat to the privileges they enjoyed under it came from the Government of the United Kingdom. The most fundamental and most cherished of these privileges was the right to their British citizenship: no majority in Parliament could legitimately deprive them of this. At their 1912 Convention, the Presbyterians, the majority Protestant denomination in Ulster, invoked a historically-based justification, with potent moral overtones, for their plea to the British Government to save them from ‘the overwhelming calamity of Home Rule’. They argued that the Government had a contractual obligation to Presbyterians to act in this way for reasons with deep roots in seventeenth-century history. Presbyterians were now in Ireland because three centuries ago, their forefathers were planted in Ulster by the English Government in order that, by their loyalty and industry, they might secure the peace and prosperity of Ulster for the mutual welfare of both countries. They and their forefathers had done their best to fulfil the trust committed to them; in return, the Government should protect their heritage as fellow citizens of the United Kingdom, of equal status with their English and Scottish co-religionists.39

         The Ulster Covenant signed by over 200,000 men on 23 September 1912, while affirming allegiance to the King, had a declaratory preamble confirming steps taken for the establishment of an Ulster provisional government. Miller observes that Ulster Protestants had thereby ‘embarked upon a course which, in ordinary commonsense terms, was plainly illegal.’40 Miller also points to a moral justification for this course of action, emphasised in the conviction of the perpetrators that Home Rule would undermine their ‘civil and religious freedom’ and be destructive of their citizenship. Upon these assertions rested the Loyalist argument that ‘although loyal citizens are bound to obey all ordinary laws, Home Rule would be no ordinary law for it would in itself negate their citizenship.’41 A. V. Dicey, Vinerian Professor of English Law at Oxford, a determined opponent of Home Rule, in a parallel argument, invoked the old Whig doctrine that oppression, and especially resistance to the will of the people, ‘might justify what was technically conspiracy or rebellion’.42

         Ulster Unionists had little or no time for modern Nationalist theories of identification with the state or automatic loyalty to it. As Buckland remarks, they regarded allegiance to the government as conditional, and considered rebellion justifiable if they deemed that the government was failing in its duty to its citizens.43 If a Liberal administration with the parliamentary support of Irish Home Rulers enacted legislation which deprived Ulster Loyalists of what they saw as their prescriptive right to be governed from Westminster, and subjected them to a Dublin parliament, they would be disloyal to the Crown if they failed to rebel against such an abrogation of their democratic preference. Carson expressed this point well when he told Asquith how he would have addressed a court had he been indicted for rebellion in Ulster. He would have pleaded guilty, but would, at the same time, have made a virtue of his guilt: ‘I was born under the British flag, a loyal subject of His Majesty the King. So much do I value this birthright that I was even prepared to rebel in order to defend it. If to fight, so as to remain, like yourselves, a loyal subject of His majesty, be a crime … I plead guilty.’44 Ulster Unionists could also argue that what might in other circumstances be regarded as treasonable activity was being pursued in a constitutional vacuum. This was because, at the time of Asquith’s Home Rule Bill, the British Constitution was in suspense as a result of the 1911 Parliament Act, which radically altered the traditional balance of power between the Houses of Parliament to the detriment of the House of Lords, at the same time removing the strongest bulwark Unionists had against the imposition of Home Rule. In such circumstances, Unionists considered themselves ‘absolved from Home Rule’.45 

         III THE RELIGIOUS ASPECT

         Throughout the entire course of the Home Rule controversy, denominational religion assumed a central importance. It served as a convenient indicator of political allegiance. It also formed a significant part of Unionist discourse on the perils for Protestants of Home Rule. The religious dimension of Ulster’s resistance to Home Rule emerges forcibly in Rudyard Kipling’s propagandist poem ‘Ulster 1912’. This presents the opposition to the measure as a spirited response to the threat of Catholic dominance over Protestants, to which Home Rule would lead:

         

         
            
               
                  We know the war prepared, on every peaceful home,

                  We know the hells declared, for such as serve not Rome

               

            

         

         One Unionist apologist after another tended to equiparate Irish Catholicism with Irish Nationalism, the former often exercising controlling influence over the political outlook and activities of the latter. In 1911, James Craig described Ireland as ‘probably the most priest- ridden country in the World.’46 During the Commons debate on the first Home Rule Bill in 1886, William Johnston, Unionist MP for Belfast South, declared that what Ulster Protestants dreaded was that if Home Rule were enacted, ‘the Protestants of Ulster would be dominated and tyrannized over by the [Catholic] majority.’ As evidence for this, Johnston observed that ‘the Church of Rome in Ireland at the present moment did not hesitate to proclaim that she looked for coming triumph and victory for her cause to an Irish Parliament.’47 Johnston’s observations were not without substance. The identification of leading Home Rulers with members of the Irish Hierarchy and clergy was a matter of public knowledge. Church leaders successfully enlisted the aid of members of the Irish Parliamentary Party in the Commons in furthering the interests of Catholic education.48

         At an organisational level, Catholic clergy wielded considerable influence on the Irish Party, attending county conventions in large numbers, and presiding over party meetings. Soon after the Parnell split, Archbishop Logue of Armagh reminded Archbishop Walsh of Dublin how much the Parliamentary Party owed to the Catholic clergy. They had ‘climbed to their present influential positions on the shoulders of Irish priests and Irish bishops’; the priests had ‘worked up the electoral registers for them, fought the elections and contributed to the sinews of war.’49 In his history of the Party written in 1910, Frank Hugh O’Donnell, a former Home Rule MP and Council member of the Home Rule League of Ireland, provided over whelming evidence, mainly derived from contemporary journals, of the extent of reliance of the Party on Catholic clergymen of every rank. Among one of his many examples of ‘the dependence of Mr John Dillon MP on the clergy’, O’Donnell found it instructive to cite the names of his leading nominators: all four were Parish Priests. O’Donnell’s characterisation of the political role of Bishop Patrick O’Donnell of Raphoe would have made welcome propagandist material for such Unionist opponents of Home Rule as the Belfast Quaker John Pim, who feared that it would ‘surrender Irish society to the invisible and visible tyranny of the Romish clergy.’50 It was ‘no exaggeration to say,’ O’Donnell wrote of his namesake the Bishop, ‘that his nod can make 20 members of Parliament and can influence the chances of 20 others … no financial trustee more influential could protect the pecuniary interests of the Parliamentary Party.’51 

         An interesting effect of the Home Rule agitation on the Loyalist side was its unifying influence on the various Protestant churches, whose former rivalries were set aside as they made common cause against a common danger: the encroachment of papal power through the imposition of Home Rule, a measure designed to suppress the Protestant faith. At the Annual Conference of the Church of Ireland in Belfast in 1893, when controversy over the second Home Rule Bill raged, G. T. Stokes, Professor of Ecclesiastical History at Trinity College Dublin, emphasised the shared faith of all Irish Protestants as a protection against ‘foreign sway and jurisdiction as embodied in Papal claims and domination’, his assumption being that this threat would be made manifest through the agency of a Home Rule parliament in Dublin. They in the Church of Ireland, Stokes proclaimed, ‘recognise every orthodox Presbyterian, every sound Wesleyan, Congregationalist, and even Plymouth Brethren.’52 Anglicans, Methodists and Presbyterians, in pamphlets, manifestos and speeches, all focused on the single dominant reason for their opposition to Home Rule: that it would usher in a period of Catholic political ascendancy. In 1893, the Reverend W. Nicholas, in a pamphlet explaining why Methodists were opposed to the measure, argued that it was evident that Roman Catholic influence must be predominant in an Irish parliament and that the dominant power in Nationalist ranks was the Church of Rome. He invoked the recent testimony of Henry Mathews, the British Home Secretary and a Roman Catholic, that the Protestants of Ireland would have reason to fear ‘for their property, their liberties, and their faith’ if the power of government and legislation were handed over to their hereditary enemies.53 A parallel manifesto issued by the Presbyterian authorities about the same time suggested that their religious liberties would be imperilled under a Nationalist Home Rule parliament, ‘the majority in which would be elected on the nomination of Roman Catholic priests.’ This Parliament would claim and exercise the right to tax Protestants for the maintenance of Catholic religious institutions, would ‘legalise the desecration of the Lord’s Day’, and would ultimately ‘establish and endow the Roman Catholic Religion in Ireland’. The interesting feature of this argument is that what its Presbyterian proponents feared was that one religious ascendancy, that of the Church of Ireland disestablished in 1869, would be replaced by another, the Catholic Church, which would tax Protestants for the benefit of Catholics, just as the Church of Ireland, when established, taxed Catholics, through a system of tithes, for the benefit of its own institutions, educational as well as ecclesiastical.54 

         Fear of Catholic dominance under Home Rule was not limited to the clergy of the Protestant Churches; it was shared by members of their congregations. Protestants in the three Ulster counties, Cavan, Monaghan and Donegal, whose exclusion from Home Rule remained problematic, were increasingly alarmed when six-county exclusion began to be mentioned, even by George V, as the realistic form of partition. Members of the Monaghan branch of the Ulster Women’s Unionist Council were alerted to the threat posed by the inclusion of Monaghan in an Irish Home Rule state. A militant opponent of such an arrangement, Miss Murray-Ker, told the Loyalist women of Monaghan that the prospect before them was that of ‘being placed under a Dublin Roman Catholic parliament which would be under priestly influence and dominated – and this I fear most – by Mr Devlin’s anti-Protestant Ancient Order of Hibernians.’55 As a token of her resistance, Miss Murray-Ker offered her house as a UVF hospital in the event of a civil war in Ulster.

         At its convention in Belfast in 1912, the Presbyterian Church devoted much of its agenda to protests against Home Rule. A new threat to the protection of the Protestant minority in Ireland and its long-term survival under Home Rule had emerged in 1908, when the Vatican issued the Ne Temere decree. For Catholics, this meant that Catholic canon law on marriage took precedence over common law: the decree meant that a mixed marriage performed according to law in a Protestant church, although legally valid, was declared by the Catholic Church to be no marriage, and the wife was considered to be living in concumbinage. It also meant that if marriage were performed before a priest in a Catholic church, a declaration had to be signed by both parties undertaking to bring their children up in the Catholic faith. Protestants of all denominations believed that marriage law under Home Rule would be framed in the spirit of Ne Temere, and that non-Catholics, undertaking marriage to Catholics, would be absorbed into the Catholic Church.

         Ne Temere was merely one manifestation of a growing tendency in Catholicism to affirm with renewed vigour its claim to be the one true Christian Church, thereby widening the gulf between it and non-Catholic Churches. In 1894, persuaded by Cardinal Vaughan, Pope Leo XIII issued an encyclical letter Ad Anglos inviting the non-Catholic English population to make their submission to the Catholic Church. In the following year, he declared Anglican ordination ‘utterly null and void’ in his Bull Apostolicae Curae, thereby suggesting that Anglican bishops and clergy, as well as those in the Church of Ireland, were to be regarded as laymen. If there was to be union between the Catholic Church and those in the Anglican Communion, this, in the Catholic view, must involve the total submission of Anglicans to Papal authority. The impression made on Irish Protestants by Apostolicae Curae and Ne Temere only served to deepen their suspicion that a Home Rule parliament operating under Catholic auspices would be unlikely to respect or even tolerate, their religious convictions. It is a matter for ironic contemplation that Cardinal Cullen, in the initial stages of the Home Rule controversy in 1886, could be posthumously represented as having been strongly opposed to Home Rule for reasons quite contrary to those advanced by Loyalists. Far from believing that a Home Rule parliament would legislate in the interests of the Catholic religion, he had suggested that it would pass laws to weaken and ultimately destroy the influence of the Catholic Church.56 

         In 1885, Lord Randolph Churchill, in a letter published by Winston Churchill in his Life of his father, seemed to feel as Cullen did. He declared that he looked to the Irish Catholic bishops, ‘who didn’t give a snap for Home Rule,’ having safely acquired control of education, ‘to mitigate or to postpone the Home Rule onset.’ Conservative Party policy, Churchill believed, should hinge on obtaining ‘the confidence and friendship of the bishops.’57 The implication of Churchill’s observation was that the Catholic hierarchy could achieve their aims under the Westminster Parliament without the need for a Dublin one. The views of Cardinal Cullen and Lord Randolph Churchill should alert us to the fact that it would be misleading to assume a seamless unity of purpose between Home Rulers and their Sinn Féin successors in the leadership of Nationalism on the one hand and the Catholic Church leadership on the other. In fact, there was a strongly entrenched tradition of Irish Episcopal support for the British connection in the late eighteenth century and for the Union in the nineteenth. Violent threats to the continuance of the Union such as that of the Fenians in the 1860s were met with the sternest Episcopal strictures. The strongest champions of monarchy could be found in the ranks of eighteenth-century Irish Catholic bishops. Troy, the Archbishop of Dublin, was a notable example. In 1793, in his exposition of Church teaching on the relationship between Irish Catholic subjects and their Protestant King, Troy ‘dismissed accusations of Catholic disloyalty by showing the very nature of the Catholic faith as Royalist.’58 In 1798 the Irish Catholic bishops devoted a bilingual pastoral letter to outlining the duties of ‘fealty and allegiance’ owed by Catholics to King George III, the strict observance of which, they claimed ‘has, for centuries back, marked the behaviour of Irish Catholics.’ The law of God, they affirmed, clearly prescribed allegiance to King George as an indispensable duty, and should deter Catholics from having their royalist principles ‘poisoned by the infectious influence’ of those ‘evil agents’ promoting the Rebellion of 1798.59 Many of the latter were northern Presbyterians. In some Fenian and post-Treaty Republican discourse, the Catholic Church establishment was characterised as an inveterate enemy of Irish independence. The Fenian John O’Leary claimed that the Catholic clergy expressed their opposition to Fenianism by deeming it a mortal sin ‘even to wish that Ireland should be free’, and by ‘doing the work of the [British] enemy’.60 

         Leading Civil War Republican diehards, heirs to the Fenian tradition, saw the political role of the Catholic Church leadership much as O’Leary did. In 1922, Liam Mellows held that the members of the Irish Hierarchy were ‘invariably wrong’ in their political outlook, from the time they took sides with the British Government ‘against the people’: Adrian’s Bull, Edward Bruce’s War, the Union, the Fenian Rising, the Plan of Campaign, the Irish Volunteers, 1916 and the declared Republic.61 Some of the older members of the Hierarchy had little sympathy with the independence movement and even less with the aspiration to establish a republic. A few, such as the conservative monarchist Bishop Kelly of Ross, would probably have been happier with the maintenance of British rule. Cardinal Logue declared the 1916 Rising ‘foolish and pernicious’.62 Like Cardinal Cullen before him, Logue expressed fears that Home Rule would be inimical to the interests of the Catholic Church. In 1911, as a measure of Home Rule seemed imminent, the parliamentary leaders of Nationalism, anxious to placate Unionists, were emphasising that a Home Rule parliament would be secular in character and deny any claims the Pope might make to interfere in Irish politics. This caused Logue to fear further that if Home Rule were granted, ‘it would mean freedom for Irish Protestants and forge shackles for Irish Catholics.’63 Thus, in 1910, he made a pronouncement suggesting that Ireland should be given the same degree of freedom as Canada had. As a consequence of the freedoms Canadians enjoyed, ‘no people were more devoted to the interests of the Empire than they were. Given similar freedom, Irish people ‘would be just as loyal in this country, if they were not so already.’64 

         There is further evidence of the lack of support of the Catholic Church for Home Rule. In 1915, Bishop Brownrigg of Ossory sent a letter to a local recruiting meeting ‘heartily endorsing the Allied cause and appealing in the name of fallen and captured Kilkennymen for more Kilkenny recruits.’65 Bishop Browne of Cloyne maintained the friendliest contact with British forces in Cobh both before and after the Anglo-Irish Treaty.66 In 1917, Bishop Morrisroe of Achonry, responding to the 1916 Rising, had no doubt that the British administration in Ireland held authority from God, and condemned those who argued that the people of Ireland ‘owe no allegiance to the powers that rule us in the country because the Union was effected by fraud.’ His answer was that ‘the seal of our subjection is stamped on the current coin,’ and that existing rulers, the only lawful defenders of ‘our persons and property,’ must be obeyed.67 In 1915, Bishop Foley of Kildare and Leighlin, a strong advocate, like many Catholic clergy, of the recruitment of Irishmen for British regiments during the Great War, wrote to a meeting of the Red Cross in Carlow of the need to ignore ‘the handful of extremists’ opposed to this. He would, he declared, ‘regard it as treason to the best interests of our country to be led astray from the clear path of duty in this crisis of the fortunes of our country and of the great world wide Empire, to which, in common with all other constituents, we are proud to belong, and around which, in her day of trial, we are expected, as loyal and devoted citizens, to rally as one man.’68 In 1914, the Bishop of Derry, Charles McHugh, declared that ‘the Irish people, one and all, were with the arms of England.’69

         It is one of the paradoxes of Irish political discourse that Catholic Republicans often demonstrated an extreme attachment to the egalitarian spirit which long distinguished low- church Protestantism, while Protestant Loyalists have been equally extreme in their devotion to a central element of Catholic ecclesiastical tradition, its monarchical character. During the Anglo-Irish Treaty debates in the Dáil, Piaras Beaslaí, a pro-Treaty Deputy, observed that the doctrinaire Republicans who opposed it had little or no historical warrant for their position. He suggested that Republicanism was an ideology alien to the sensibilities of Gaelic Ireland, whose instincts were firmly on the side of monarchy. Drawing on his knowledge of Gaelic literature and tradition, Beaslaí pointed out that ‘all the old Gaelic poets sang of the going of the foreign hosts [the British] out of Ireland as an unreal dream of far off happiness.’ They did not, he added, ‘sing of a Republic. They sang of a Gaelic Monarch as a symbol of association between the three Kingdoms.’70 

         IV THE EMERGENCE OF PARTITION: HOME RULE AS THE CATALYST

         To trace the landmarks on the road to partition is to identify the stages of a long process, beginning in 1886 in the course of which Home Rule, and Ulster exclusion from this, gradually became inevitable. Definitions of the key terms of the Nationalist-Unionist dispute are uncontroversial. A useful definition of Home Rule is that provided in a Liberal Unionist handbook in 1887: ‘Any scheme or policy which involves the establishment of a Parliament in Ireland, together with an Executive Government responsible to that Parliament.’71 The other key term, Ulster exclusion – in effect partition – is less straightforward, and is subject to a number of differing interpretations based on how the various parties involved understood the meaning of ‘Ulster,’ and on what kind of exclusion they had in mind. The fundamental issue here was the extent of the geographical area to be excluded. At various times during the exclusion debate this was understood to mean the four Ulster counties with Unionist majorities: Antrim, Armagh, Londonderry and Down. At other stages, it was considered preferable to exclude all nine counties of the province of Ulster, until it eventually became clear that Ulster Loyalist interests would be best served by the exclusion of all of Ulster with the exception of Cavan, Monaghan and Donegal. Ulster exclusion from Home Rule was not simply a matter of deciding on a specific geographical area. An issue much in contention between the parties was whether exclusion should be temporary or permanent: Nationalists favouring the former, Unionists the latter. Then there was the matter of the governance of the excluded area. Would jurisdiction over this be retained by the Westminster Parliament or would a separate Ulster legislature be created, resulting in two Irish Parliaments, one in Dublin and one in Belfast? 

         On 17 December 1885, Gladstone’s son Herbert announced that his father had been converted to the cause of Irish Home Rule. On 1 February 1886, Gladstone was appointed Prime Minister, his Liberal administration having the support of a disciplined, effective Irish party with 86 Westminster MPs led by Parnell. On 8 April 1886, Gladstone introduced the first of his two Home Rule Bills, officially designated The Government of Ireland Bill, in the House of Commons. He had gradually, and painstakingly, reached the conclusion on moral, Christian and political grounds, that Ireland must be given Home Rule and that the Irish people were fitted for self government. He had, in addition, been deeply impressed by ‘the strength and tenacity of the Irish demand’ and ‘the political genius of Parnell’.72 During the Commons debate on the Bill, Parnell indicated the nature of the demand when, in a tribute to Gladstone, he declared that ‘whatever may be the fate of this measure, the cause of Irish autonomy will have gained enormously in a way it could never otherwise have gained, by the genius of the Right Honourable gentleman.’73 The Nationalist demand had been more emphatically expressed at a Home Rule conference in November 1873, when the first two resolutions declared that it was ‘essentially necessary for the peace and prosperity of Ireland that the right of domestic legislation on all Irish affairs should be restored to our country,’ and that the time had come for ‘solemnly reassuring the inalienable right of the Irish people to self-government.’74 Gladstone’s Bill provided for the establishment of an Irish parliament in Dublin with an Irish executive responsible to it for the management of Irish domestic affairs. Large Imperial matters, including the Crown, foreign relations, peace and war, and armed forces, were reserved to the Parliament at Westminster. Ireland’s share of the Imperial Contribution was set at one-fifteenth.75 The terms of the 1886 measure were a significant advance on those offered under Grattan’s Parliament in 1782. Under its Constitution, the Irish Executive under British control; under the terms of Gladstone’s Bill, the Executive would be answerable to an Irish Parliament, although subject to the ultimate supremacy of the Imperial Parliament.76

         Gladstone’s 1886 attempt to implement Home Rule was frustrated by a split in his own Liberal Party. Led by Lord Hartington, the Whig section, composed of right-wing Liberals who believed that an extension of a proposed measure of local government to Ireland would be going far enough in the circumstances, withheld support. The Radicals, led by Joseph Chamberlain, whose opposition to Home Rule led to his resignation from Gladstone’s Cabinet in March 1886, convened a meeting on 31 May of over 50 Liberal MPs who decided to vote against the Bill on its second reading. This signalled the death of Home Rule for the immediate future: the Bill was defeated in the Commons by 341 votes to 311 on 8 June 1886. Whatever might have been the fate of the measure in the Commons, even if it had passed by a substantial majority there, it would certainly have been rejected in the House of Lords. Gladstone’s well-meaning attempt to do what he thought best for Ireland exposed the fragility of the Liberal Party and the opportunism of the Conservatives, who were less interested in the fate of Ireland, or indeed of Ulster, than in turning Liberal advocacy of Home Rule to their own political advantage. Gladstone proved incapable of convincing either the majority of the House of Commons or public opinion of the merits of Home Rule. The opposition came from four principal quarters: Conservatives, two groups of dissident Liberals, Irish Unionists and British nonconformists.

         There was no special provision for Ulster exclusion or for partition in Gladstone’s Home Rule Bill of 1886, nor was there in either his 1893 measure or Asquith’s 1914 Act. During the Commons debate on the 1886 Bill, it was clear that a major objection of opponents was the Government’s failure to give special treatment to Ulster or the predominantly Protestant part of it. The Ulster dimension of the Home Rule agenda was a primary influence on Joseph Chamberlain’s withdrawal of support from Gladstone and on his conversion from Radicalism to aggressive British patriotism and, more particularly, support for a separate Belfast administration.77 All the main participants in the Home Rule debate recognised that the most troublesome issue was the future position within any settlement of the Loyalist Protestant minority in Ireland as a whole. During the Commons debate on the Bill, Gladstone rejected the idea that ‘the Protestant minority in Ulster or elsewhere is to rule the question at large for Ireland.’ He went on to conclude that the Protestant minority ‘should have its wishes considered to the utmost practicable extent in any form which they may assume.’ In calling for ‘an unprejudiced discussion of Ulster’s options,’ he hinted at the possibility that Ulster, ‘or perhaps with more appearance of reason, a portion of Ulster, should be excluded,’ but insisted that such concession should be made ‘only after the principle of Home Rule had been agreed.’ The exclusion of Ulster from Home Rule had thus, by 1886, crossed Gladstone’s mind as a possibility and Joseph Chamberlain’s as the preferred consequence of a Home Rule Act.78 

         A similar possibility had occurred to Thomas Babington Macaulay in 1833 during a debate in the Britain House of Commons on Daniel O’Connell’s motion to repeal the Act of Union, the consequence of which would have been the establishment of a separate domestic legislature in Ireland. Macaulay maintained that the clearest ground which could be guessed at as the basis of O’Connell’s repeal scheme ‘would apply a fortiori to a separation of the legislatures of the North and South of Ireland.’ Macaulay’s key argument was that the same circumstances that might be invoked in favour of a separate parliament of Ireland could equally be invoked in favour of the exclusion of Ulster from the jurisdiction of that parliament. ‘If a rooted difference of religion,’ he declared, ‘and the existence of the worst consequences of that difference, would justify the separation of the English and Irish legislatures, the same difference, and still more, the same baleful consequences, would warrant the separation of Protestant Ulster from Catholic Munster.’ O’Connell’s reasoning, Macaulay suggested, ‘that only a domestic legislature would remedy a domestic grievance, would in a tenfold degree apply in favour of one domestic legislature in Dublin, and another in Derry, or some other large town in the North of Ireland.’ Macaulay anticipated a twentieth-century Unionist argument against Home Rule when he described the project for the repeal of the Union as ‘mere delusion,’ but if it were practicable, ‘there was no part of the Empire to which it would be so fatally ruinous as to Ireland itself.’79

         O’Day identifies four propositions on which those who demanded Ulster exclusion based their arguments: ‘its different history, the existence of a local Protestant plurality, the wishes of people there and the region’s greater economic vitality and integration into the British and Atlantic markets.’ O’Day, however, points out that the principal advocates of Ulster exclusion were British, not Irish, Unionists.80 Some influential Ulster Unionist leaders and the generality of southern Unionists, while opposed to Home Rule, at the same time rejected Ulster exclusion. Colonel Edward Saunderson, MP for North Armagh and Chairman of the Ulster Unionist Party, declared in the course of the Home Rule debate that Ulster Unionists could not isolate themselves from their Unionist brethren in the south in the common battle against Home Rule: he and his Ulster colleagues were ‘prepared and determined to stand and fall, for weal or woe, with every loyal man who lives in Ireland.’81 A Protestant-Nationalist MP, the Methodist William Abraham who represented County Limerick, suggested that the pan-Unionist alliance favoured by Colonel Saunderson would prevent either of the two main religious groupings in Ireland ‘from being tyrannical or illiberal,’ and that Ulster exclusion, and the attendant loss of Ulster Protestants to a truncated Home Rule Ireland would disturb the present religious equilibrium in the country as a whole.82 William O’Brien, Nationalist MP for South Tyrone and ultimately a strong proponent of reconciliation with Unionists, saw in Gladstone’s Home Rule proposal, ‘a most marvellous plan’ for recreating Irish society out of its ruins, as well as offering considerable benefit to Protestants, who would be the national minority under the proposal. As O’Brien put it, somewhat indelicately, it would be ‘giving to a caste that is fallen and helpless such a chance as it has never had before, and never could have anticipated, and I must say as it scarcely deserves.’83 The Protestants O’Brien had in mind were mainly those of the south and west of Ireland, described by John Redmond as being ‘in such a miserable minority’.84 

         In 1893, Gladstonian Liberals and Irish Home Rulers had a majority of 40 in the House of Commons: 350 to 310. This gave Gladstone the confidence to introduce a second Home Rule Bill in that year. The Ulster case against all-Ireland Home Rule was pursued with much greater vigour than in 1886. Again, as in 1886, the absence of special arrangements for Ulster from Gladstone’s latest Bill were deplored. At the recent General Election, a majority of the MPs elected for the province were opposed to Home Rule. T. W. Russell, an Ulster Unionist MP, outlined what the measure, if it became law, would mean for Ulster Protestants: ‘the degradation of their civil rights, the loss of their religious freedom, and the commerce of their province placed at the mercy of people who had laid waste great tracts of the country.’85 Addressing a rally at the Ulster Hall, during the Easter Parliamentary recess of 1893, Arthur Balfour, who exerted powerful influence in the British Conservative Party, encouraged Ulster opposition to Home Rule by implying that his Party would support Ulster Protestants in their refusal to recognise a Dublin parliament.86 The introduction of the Bill prompted Ulster Unionists to organise widespread resistance. Two hundred Unionist clubs were formed, and the Ulster Defence Union was founded. At this time, as Edward Carson was to recall in 1911, there were extensive discussions among leading British and Irish Unionists on the Ulster Question, with Joseph Chamberlain ‘particularly keen to pursue the case for Ulster exclusion, but the concerns for an all-Ireland Unionism prevailed.’87 On 3 September 1893, however, Gladstone’s second Home Rule Bill was passed by the House of Commons by 307 votes to 276. However, it was soon rejected by the House of Lords by 419 votes to 41. This defeat, and Gladstone’s resignation from office and from the leadership of the Liberal Party, marked the suspension of his Party’s engagement with Home Rule. 

         H. H. Asquith, a Gladstonian Home Ruler, became Prime Minister in 1908. Asquith won the support of the Irish Parliamentary Party for his abolition of the absolute veto of the House of Lords: the Parliament Act of 1911 removed from the Upper House the right to strike down a Bill outright, leaving it with the power to veto a Bill for up to two years only. This change removed a major obstacle to Home Rule, since there had been no prospect that the Lords would permit its enactment. Redmond supported Asquith on the Lords issue after the latter had committed the Liberal Party to Home Rule at the Royal Albert Hall prior to the General Election of 1910. The atmosphere of British politics underwent a radical transformation between 1909 and 1911. The Conservative-Irish Unionist alliance felt betrayed by three interlocked developments: the socially-progressive ‘people’s budget’ of 1909–10, which was rejected by the House of Lords; the consequent diminution of the power of the Lords, and the Liberal alliance with the Irish Home Rulers, considered by Conservatives as ‘a corrupt bargain’. The Liberal Government was accused by its opponents of having created a double constitutional crisis. By removing the Lords’ veto on legislation passed by the Commons, Asquith and his ministers were accused of breaching the Constitution, giving England a unicameral parliament determined to implement a second major change, in the form of Irish Home Rule, which would lead to the dismemberment of the United Kingdom, without consulting the electorate.88

         V ULSTER EXCLUSION: THE GROWING DEMAND

         With Home Rule becoming increasingly likely under Asquith’s Premiership, influential Unionist intellectuals with close associations with the British Conservative Party began to canvass the possibility of Ulster exclusion. Two of these, J. L. Garvin, Editor of The Observer, and John St Loe Strachey, Editor of The Spectator, have a special importance in the history of partition. By 1910, Garvin had come to believe that if northern Unionists did not wish to participate in an all-Ireland assembly based in Dublin, it would not be desirable to coerce them into joining such a body. As a solution, which he offered tentatively with regret, he suggested that ‘a distinct Belfast Assembly for the great northern Conclave’ might be necessary. He did not advocate what he called the ‘permanent vivisection’ of Ireland. Instead, he visualised an Irish Upper House or National Council for the whole of Ireland, ‘elected under conditions ensuring the predominance of moderate opinion,’ to deal with matters of common concern, such as railways and marketing, relating to all parts of Ireland. Ulster might be given the opportunity to decide whether to ‘throw in its lot completely with the common Irish system.’ If the Dublin Parliament desired this outcome, ‘it would have to subordinate everything to the goal of winning Ulster over,’ and promote ‘the definite reconciliation of sects and classes North and South.’89 Later, in 1914, Garvin was to suggest the establishment of two parliaments in Ireland.90 Garvin’s scheme anticipated important features of the Government of Ireland Act of 1920, with its two legislatures and its provision for unity, and the Anglo-Irish Treaty of 1921, with its similar provisions. 

         St Loe Strachey, another pioneer of partition, began lobbying senior Unionists on the possibility of Ulster county option and exclusion in 1910–11. At the end of October 1910, on the day before Garvin’s article appeared in The Observer, Strachey wrote to the Unionist lawyer William Moore setting out a detailed plan of exclusion whereby individual Irish counties could vote themselves out of the Home Rule scheme, and then be treated for administrative purposes as English counties. If this proved impossible to attain, Unionists should insist that Home Rule be granted for both the north and the south of Ireland. The political separation of the two underlying Strachey’s plan was based on the assumption that Ireland consisted of two nations, an Irish and a British, and that political separation represented a just and logical way of confronting that fact.91 A year later in November 1911, Strachey wrote to Bonar Law that there were ‘two nations in Ireland, and therefore two national units.’92 Strachey’s thoughts on the Irish question are expounded at length in his undated autobiography, published in the aftermath of the Treaty. He believed that when Home Rule became almost inevitable after 1918, the partition of Ireland was the only means of avoiding civil war. He would have preferred to see the six-county area ‘become one or two English counties,’ but this being unrealistic, ‘the setting up of the Northern Legislature and the Northern State became the inevitable compromise.’ 

         His ideas for dealing with the rest of Ireland following Ulster exclusion are interesting. He would not force the southern Irish ‘Protestants and Roman Catholic Loyalists to forfeit their citizenship of the British Empire,’ but allow them instead ‘to come away from the South with full compensation for their disturbance’ if they so desired. As for the remainder in southern Ireland, he would have preferred to see the 26 counties ‘detached from the Empire,’ having himself no desire to be ‘a fellow-citizen with Mr de Valera or any other Sinn Féiner, Regular or Irregular, or again, with the Hierarchy of the Roman Catholic Church in Ireland’, since these had ‘evidently different views on the crime of murder than those of the rest of the British race.’ The British people must, he believed, give up any attempt to teach an incorrigible Ireland better. Since Nationalist Ireland had failed to grasp the truth ‘that to be included in the British Empire is one of the highest and greatest privileges obtainable by any community’, Strachey was not going down on his knees ‘to beg an unwilling southern Ireland to enjoy this privilege.’93 On 26 August 1911, Augustine Birrell, Chief Secretary for Ireland, made a significant intervention in the Home Rule debate when, in a letter to Winston Churchill, he raised the possibility of Ulster exclusion; each of the nine counties in the province might decide individually whether to join or remain aloof from an Irish parliament for a period of time. This was the county option formula, which was to feature prominently in discussions of Home Rule between 1911 and 1916. Birrell believed that the procedure he suggested would probably mean that all nine Ulster counties, with the exception of Antrim and Down, would offer majority support for Home Rule.94

         Effective Unionist resistance to Home Rule got under way in 1911, the year before Asquith brought the third Liberal Home Rule Bill before the House of Commons. The campaign of resistance organised by the leadership of Ulster Unionism was enthusiastically supported by influential British Conservatives, including Bonar Law and F. E. Smith, later Lord Birkenhead. Conservative and Unionist opposition to Home Rule was based on the argument that it

         would deprive Ulster Protestants of their ‘birthright’.95 Irish Unionist MPs responded to the challenge of Home Rule by persuading Edward Carson to assume the leadership of their Party in February 1910. Carson and Captain James Craig, spokesman for the Ulster Unionist MPs since 1906, became leaders of the Irish Unionist Campaign against Home Rule. Craig organised a massive protest demonstration at his home at Craigavon with two aims in mind: to indicate the strength of Loyalist opposition to Home Rule, and to introduce Carson to his northern supporters. The demonstration, on 23 September 1911, was a striking success. Carson told over 50,000 men from Orange Lodges and Unionist clubs that he was ready to enter into a compact with them to defeat what he called ‘the most nefarious conspiracy that has ever been hatched against a free people.’ He proposed a plan of campaign against the imposition of Home Rule. Should the measure pass, Unionists would ignore it, and take responsibility ‘for the government of the Protestant province of Ulster.’96 Carson’s proposal for the self exclusion of Ulster from any measure of Home Rule was at least partly motivated by his conviction that the Irish Nationalist leadership would not accept Home Rule with Ulster excluded. If, therefore, Carson believed, Ulster Loyalists could show that they would fight rather than submit to Home Rule, then the British Government, in the absence of any Irish support for the measure, would be obliged to abandon it.97

         The Ulster Unionist Council followed Carson’s startling incitement to unconstitutional action by setting up a commission to draft a constitution for Loyalist Ulster and to prepare the way for taking over the civil administration. Just before Asquith introduced his Home Rule Bill on 11 April 1912, a modest measure of self government proposing a separate parliament for Ireland as a whole with jurisdiction over internal affairs, Ulster Unionists organised a mass demonstration at Balmoral, a suburb of Belfast, on Easter Tuesday, 9 April 1912. By the beginning of 1912, however, the strength of Unionist feeling against the proposed measure had already prompted leading Liberals to reconsider the imposition of unconditional Home Rule on Ulster. In February 1912, the possibility of Ulster exclusion again came to the fore when Lloyd George and Winston Churchill urged county option for Ulster in Cabinet. On 7 February 1912, Asquith wrote to King George V, who was soon to become an advocate for the rights of Ulster Loyalists, that public opinion might demand special treatment for Ulster.98 Bonar Law, Conservative Party Leader since 1911, accompanied by 70 English, Scottish and Welsh MPs, addressed the crowds at Balmoral, and 100,000 mean marched past the platform. This event, as Stewart puts it, ‘solemnised the wedding of Protestant Ulster and the Conservative and Unionist Party’, and made it evident that Unionist opposition to Home Rule was going to assume the character of a religious crusade.99 The solemn proceedings at Balmoral opened with prayers by the Church of Ireland Primate John Baptist Crozier, and the Moderator of the Presbyterian Church led in the singing of the 90th Psalm. Caught up in the passion of the event was Charles Frederick D’Arcy, Bishop of Down, Connor and Dromore, who addressed the men and dedicated the colours of various detachments of the Protestant Ulster Volunteers.100 The climax of Bonar Law’s public advocacy of the cause of Ulster was the great rally held on 29 July 1912, at Blenheim Palace, the seat of the Duke of Marlborough. This was a Conservative Party demonstration also attended by Edward Carson, together with 120 Unionist MPs and some 40 Peers, including the Duke of Norfolk, the leading Catholic layman in England. The presence of the latter aroused fury among Irish Nationalists. 

         Bonar Law’s contribution to the proceedings achieved notoriety for its extreme militancy. Now absorbed heart and soul in the Ulster cause, Law, the son of a Presbyterian Minister from Coleraine,101 described Asquith’s Government as ‘a revolutionary committee which has seized upon domestic power by fraud.’ He doubted whether the Government would dare to force Ulster Protestants to submit to the rule of a Dublin parliament, and then made the declaration which in effect was ‘to break the conventions on which Parliamentary democracy is based’.102 If an attempt were made, he declared, to deprive Ulster men of their birthright, ‘they would be justified in resisting such an attempt by all means in their power, including force.’103 The contribution of Bonar Law to the cause of Ulster exclusion from Home Rule can scarcely be overestimated, as his biographer, Robert Blake has pointed out. Blake observes that the survival of the six counties as an autonomous province of the United Kingdom is in no small measure the achievement of Bonar Law. Blake argues that ‘without his much criticised decision to pledge the whole of the English Conservative Party to the Ulster cause, it is unlikely that Ulster would stand where she does to-day.’104 During 1913, Bonar Law was contemplating a mass Unionist withdrawal from Parliament as a means of frustrating the passage of the Home Rule Bill, and as an alternative, ‘provoking such disorders as to bring the proceedings to a standstill.’105 

         On 28 September 1912, designated ‘Ulster Day,’ the Old Testament religious dimension of Ulster opposition to Home Rule was affirmed when 237,386 Ulster men signed ‘Ulster’s Solemn League and Covenant’, and 234,046 women signed a parallel declaration.106 Those who subscribed their names to the covenant affirmed that they were ‘loyal subjects of His Gracious Majesty King George V, humbly relying on God whom our fathers in days of stress and trial confidently trusted.’ They also declared themselves convinced that Home Rule would be ‘disastrous to the well being of Ulster as well as the whole of Ireland,’ in addition to being subversive of their civil and religious freedom, destructive of their citizenship, and ‘perilous to the unity of the Empire’. More tellingly, they threatened that in the event of a Home Rule parliament being forced upon them, they pledged themselves ‘to refuse to recognise its authority.’107 The extraterrestrial aspect of the Covenant was later recognised by The Times of London, which saw it as ‘a mystical affirmation’ through which ‘Ulster seemed to enter into an offensive and defensive alliance with the Deity.’108 At a more mundane level, Ulster resistance to Home Rule was more menacingly expressed in the creation of the paramilitary Ulster Volunteer Force, which, by 1913, with over 90,000 part-time volunteers, had virtually created a state within a state, and by 1914 had the added bargaining power of 25,000 rifles and three million rounds of ammunition.

         In 1914, the British and Imperial dimensions of the Ulster question were made strongly manifest, first through the contribution of the Ulster Union Defence League, whose object was ‘the rescue of the white settler colony of Ulster from submersion in a sea of inferior Celts.’109 The leadership of this primarily British Unionist organisation included Walter Long, who was to be chief architect of the 1920Government of Ireland Act, and Lord Milner. The latter, who was to be Colonial Secretary from 1919 to 1921, sought and received large sums of money from prominent Imperialist financiers, publicists and landed millionaires, among them Rudyard Kipling, Lord Rothschild, The Earl of Iveagh, Lord Astor and the Duke of Bedford. The money was to be used for the purchase of arms and ammunition for the Ulster Volunteer Force, helping to fund the Larne gun running enterprise of April 1914. In the same year, another wave of Imperialist support for Ulster came with the publication in March of the British Covenant, modelled on the 1912 Ulster Solemn League and Covenant. The first signatories of the British version included Kipling, Sir Edward Elgar the composer of ‘Pomp and Circumstance’ and Earl Roberts of Kandahar, the most popular living British soldier, who recommended the appointment of General Sir George Richardson of the Indian Army as Generalissimo of the UVF.110 

         The first specific formal parliamentary proposal in the period for the partition of Ireland dates to 11 June 1912, when two Liberals, Agar-Robartes and Neil Primrose, moved an amendment to Asquith’s Home Rule Bill which could have made acceptance of the proposed Home Rule Parliament conditional upon the exclusion of the counties of Antrim, Armagh, Down and Derry111 from its jurisdiction. Agar Robartes, a young Liberal of strongly Protestant views, proposed the amendment, which was seconded by Primrose, whose father, Lord Rosebery, had been Prime Minister and leader of the Liberal Unionists who broke with Gladstone when the latter made Home Rule for Ireland part of the programme of the Liberal Party. It must be noted that Agar-Robartes and Primrose were not opposed to the principle of Home Rule for Ireland. Nevertheless they felt that their compromise amendment permitting the exclusion from its provisions of the four Ulster counties in which Protestants could claim to be in a majority would meet Unionist fears of coercion and of being governed from Dublin. The House of Commons debate on the Agar-Robartes amendment gave Carson an opportunity to explain the Unionist attitude to Home Rule and to partition in the summer of 1912. Carson declared that he would vote for the amendment because it would make the Home Rule Bill unworkable, but that he could never accept a settlement which excluded Tyrone and Fermanagh from a Unionist-controlled enclave. More significantly, he made it clear that he was less concerned with areas to be excluded from the operation of the Bill than with the absolute rejection of Home Rule for any part of Ireland.112

         The amendment attracted no support from any of the British parties. But Walter Long, who was to play a vital role in the partition of Ireland as Chairman of the Cabinet Committee on the Irish Question in 1919, suggested that ‘local powers to a suitable historical and geographical area might be given subject to central government.’113 Towards the close of 1912, three Ulster MPs, including Carson, advanced the exclusion debate when, on 28 December they sponsored an amendment to Asquith’s Home Rule Bill to exclude the nine Ulster counties. The amendment, debated on 1 January 1913, represented an implied concession by British and Irish Unionists of Home Rule for Ireland minus Ulster, a solution not welcome to southern Unionists. To reassure the latter, Carson, while arguing for Ulster exclusion, purported to be urging support for his amendment as a means of defeating Asquith’s entire measure.114 Jalland115 sees the Agar-Robartes Amendment of 11 June 1912 as the point when most British Unionists tacitly recognised the inevitability of Home Rule for the south, with Ulster excluded. 

         The momentum for Ulster exclusion was maintained throughout 1913, as the Ulster Unionist campaign won the sympathy of the King, the Army and the British public. Through the spring and summer of 1913, the King received numerous constitutional complaints and much advice on how to deal with Ulster from Unionist leaders, elder statesmen and anonymous sympathisers with the Ulster cause. He sought the views of opposition leaders, including Bonar Law and Lord Lansdowne. In an audience with Asquith on 11 August 1913, he conveyed his fears about the effect of the Ulster situation upon the Crown; he was especially concerned that Home Rule would ‘certainly alienate Ulster Protestants’ from him.116 A letter to Asquith on 22 September indicated that the King was profoundly influenced by Conservative arguments against Home Rule per se. The purpose of his letter was to dissuade Asquith from proceeding with Home Rule until after a General Election. The generality of Irish people, the King argued, were no longer enthusiastic for it. What would happen if ‘tumult and riot’ occurred when Home Rule was forced on Ulster? The possible use of the Army as the agent of such enforcement was of vital concern to George V. By ‘birth, religion and environment’ soldiers might have ‘strong feelings on the Irish question’, in this context, favourable to the Loyalist cause. Would it then be fair, the King asked rhetorically, to expect the Sovereign ‘as head of the Army to subject the discipline, and indeed the loyalty of his troops, to such a strain?’ The King made the interesting claim, not entirely without substance, that ‘the hierarchy of the Church of Rome is indifferent, and probably at heart would be glad not to come under the power of an Irish Parliament.’117 This latter point of view had earlier been expressed by Cardinal Cullen, as already mentioned in this chapter, who, in a statement first made public during the 1886 Home Rule controversy, feared that a Home Rule parliament, whose strength, he thought, would come from revolutionary sources, would pass laws ‘to weaken and destroy’ the influence of the Catholic Church, and restrain the Catholic bishops ‘in the performance of their undoubted duty’.118 

         On 22 January 1914, Asquith’s Cabinet decided to propose another veto on any act of a Dublin parliament which might affect adversely the Protestant counties. The King told Asquith that this was not enough to satisfy Loyalists: ‘I have always given you as my opinion,’ he reminded Asquith, almost as if he were a Unionist spokesman, ‘that Ulster will never agree to send representatives to an Irish Parliament in Dublin, no matter what safeguards or guarantees you may provide’, and went on to hint at further concessions for Loyalists.119 In April 1914, the King made Asquith aware of the nature of the concerns he had in mind. He wanted the six counties to be allowed to contract out without a plebiscite and for an indefinite period in the interests of a peaceful solution, and in view of the ‘terrible position in which he, the King, would be placed if that solution was not found’.120 The King’s assessment of the dangers which would attend the enforcement of Home Rule on an unwilling Ulster was in accord with that of Bonar Law. On 26 January 1914, the latter warned Lord Stamfordham, the King’s secretary, that Asquith’s Government had only two courses open to it: submit the Home Rule Bill to the judgement of the people in an election or prepare to face the consequences of civil war.121 The King’s concerns about putting the loyalty of the Army to the test were justified on 20 March 1914, when a group of Army officers at the Curragh Camp signified their intention to resign their commissions rather than use force against Ulster resistance to Home Rule. This affair made it evident that the Army could not safely be employed to impose Home Rule on Ulster. The landing of 35,000 rifles at Larne, County Antrim between 24 and 25 April 1914 was a further confirmation of the power of Ulster Unionists to prevent Home Rule. The decision to import these armaments was taken by Carson in January 1914, with the possible knowledge and approval of the Conservative leadership, one member of which, Walter Long, who had strong southern Unionist connections, helped to fund the enterprise.122

         Between the autumn of 1913 and the spring of 1914, events moved towards narrowing the ground on the Ulster problem. Lloyd George influenced Cabinet policy ‘intermittently but powerfully’ in the direction of an Ulster exclusion compromise, enthusiastically supported by Winston Churchill.123 In September 1913, Winston Churchill told Bonar Law, who in turn told Carson, that he had long thought ‘it might be well to leave Ulster as she is’, as part of Great Britain, and ‘to have some form of Home Rule for the rest of Ireland’. Having thus conceded the principles of Ulster exclusion and of Home Rule for what remained of Ireland, Churchill, worried about the residual problem: ‘The whole question as to the exclusion of Ulster turns on this, whether or not it would be regarded as betrayal by the solid body of Unionists in the South and West.’124 With characteristic acuity, Churchill here anticipated the difficulty Carson would have to contend with from 1919 to 1920. Carson concurred in Churchill’s exclusion of Ulster, sensing that ‘things are shaping towards a desire to settle on terms of leaving Ulster out.’ However, he had difficulty in defining the excluded Ulster. His own view was that ‘the whole of Ulster should be excluded, but the minimum would be the plantation counties and for that a good case could be made.’125 Having had secret talks with Bonar Law in October and on 6 November 1913, Asquith arrived at an exclusion plan for Ulster. This envisaged the temporary exclusion of an undetermined portion of the province, but did not involve giving this Ulster area a parliament and executive of its own: legislation should remain with the Imperial Parliament, since Ulstermen, if they were not to sacrifice their root principle, could not recognise any other parliament.126

         Equally significantly for Ulster exclusion, John Redmond, on 2 March 1914, agreed with Asquith’s proposal, formulated by Lloyd George, that counties had the right to decline Home Rule where this course was favoured by a simple majority in a plebiscite. Under pressure, Redmond agreed to a six-year exclusion period with automatic inclusion after that. Carson, while acknowledging that the acceptance by Asquith and Redmond of the principle of exclusion was an advance, nevertheless adopted the position that he was to maintain to the end, and that was ultimately to prevail in 1925. ‘Ulster,’ he told the Commons, ‘wants this question settled now and for ever. We do not want sentence of death and a stay of execution for six years.’127 On 23 May 1914, the Government introduced an Amending Bill in the House of Lords to receive the Royal assent simultaneously with Home Rule. The new Bill would provide for counties to exclude themselves from the provisions of the Home Rule measure for six years. The third reading of the new Bill passed in the House of Commons on 25 May, but on 2 July the Lords substituted permanent exclusion of nine counties without a plebiscite, going even further than the King had suggested in April. Since this amending Bill was unlikely to pass in the Commons, stalemate was reached. During the first half of July 1914, Asquith, anxious for a compromise, used a variety of intermediaries: Lloyd George interviewed Redmond and Dillon together; Lord Murray, the former Liberal Chief Whip, saw Carson. The aim of these discussions was a sensible one: to try and limit the differences between the sides to the single question of geography.128 Geography, however, given the complexity of the demographic patterns in the counties at stake, gave rise to an intractable problem: what to do about Tyrone. On this, there was no agreement between the parties. Nor is it easy to see how there could have been, given that both Carson and Redmond wanted Tyrone in its entirety for his own side. The problem here was that the majority of the inhabitants of east, west and north Tyrone were Catholic, while the majority of inhabitants in both south Tyrone and north Fermanagh were Protestant. 

         The final pre-war attempt at a settlement was the Buckingham Palace Conference, convened at the suggestion of George V between 21 and 24 July 1914. Asquith and Lloyd George represented the Government, Bonar Law the Conservative opposition, John Redmond and John Dillon MP the Irish Parliamentary Party, and Sir Edward Carson and Sir James Craig the Ulster Unionists. Lord Lansdowne, a Kerry landlord who was Conservative Leader in the House of Lords, and a former British Secretary of State for War, thus wielding considerable political influence, represented the southern Unionists. Lansdowne’s interest was in trying to preserve the Union as a whole, and not in salvaging the North East for loyalism. Carson’s position was similar to that taken by the King and the House of Lords: he was, as Rankin remarks, ‘nurturing his own idea of a ‘clean cut’ without recourse to time limits and plebiscites.’129 Redmond’s position, as recorded in his own memorandum of the Conference, and published by Gwynn, was that the time limit for Ulster exclusion would be contingent on the area to be excluded.130 In a memorandum he circulated to the Conference, Redmond provided statistical evidence based on the most recent census, that of 1911, to show that Catholics formed the same proportional majorities in Fermanagh and Tyrone as Protestants did in counties Derry and Armagh, where the combined Catholic minority was actually greater than the combined Protestant minority in Fermanagh and Tyrone by 5,258.131 As was the case with the previous attempt to reach consensus, Tyrone proved the fundamental obstacle. Redmond could not agree to Carson’s opposition to allowing any part of Tyrone to be included in Home Rule, pointing out that in three of the four Parliamentary divisions in the county, Catholics were 54.7, 54.8 and 62.6 per cent of the population, while in the other division, the south, Protestants had a small majority: 51.3 per cent as against 48.7.132 

         To avert a breakdown of the Conference, the Speaker of the House of Commons, James Lowther, who presided, suggested that Tyrone should be excluded from Home Rule at the beginning, but that following a plebiscite, the county should be able to come into the Irish Parliament after a short period. Carson observed that this proposal had the defect that Tyrone would be excluded only for a short period, after this it would ‘certainly be included under the Home Rule Bill.’133 In this way Carson acknowledged that if given the choice of a plebiscite, the majority in Tyrone would vote for Home Rule, an issue which was to be dramatically revived during the proceedings of the Boundary Commission in 1924/5. Asquith, much frustrated by the contention about Tyrone, described the county as ‘the most damnable creation of the perverted ingenuity of man.’ He identified as the most extraordinary feature of the discussion, the complete agreement (in principle) of Redmond and Carson: each said ‘I must have the whole of Tyrone or die, but I quite understand why you say the same.’134 The most significant aspect of the Buckingham Palace Conference was the agreement reached by all parties on the central issue: that all or part of Ulster had to be excluded from Home Rule, whether this meant six counties, as Bonar Law thought it should, the nine-county arrangement which Carson suggested, and thought Redmond should be willing to accept as facilitating the earliest possible unity of Ireland, or a smaller unit than the six-county one that Redmond had in mind. Partition was now the agreed basis for discussion, whatever the area on which it was to be based.135 All that remained was for the parties to determine the nature and extent of this partition. European events soon made all discussion impossible for the immediate future. On 4 August 1914, Britain was at war with Germany, and all the parties suspended consideration of the Irish boundary to concentrate on the War effort. This was supported, at least initially, by a large majority of Irish people. 

         VI ULSTER EXCLUSION: THE FINAL PHASE – WARTIME EFFORTS AT SETTLEMENT

         The Home Rule Act, officially the Government of Ireland Act, 1914, was placed upon the Statute Book in October 1914. This was by no means a grant of unqualified Home Rule to Ireland. There were two major qualifications on this. A Suspensory Act (1914), associated with the Home Rule Act, deferred the operation of the latter until after the conclusion of the Great War. Of much greater significance was the understanding that the British Parliament would have the opportunity, at the end of the War, to pass a measure amending the 1914 Home Rule Act and exempting Ulster, or part of it, from its effect. The outbreak of the Great War had a profound effect on the fortunes of traditional Irish nationalism. With the progress of the conflict, the political influence of the Irish Parliamentary Party at Westminster diminished, particularly when the two major British parties united in common cause against the Central Powers, Germany and the Austro-Hungarian Empire. In May 1917, the British War Cabinet included Carson as Attorney General, while Craig was to retain minor ministerial posts in the Government until 1920. Their allies Bonar Law and Arthur Balfour also served in wartime cabinets, the former joining Lloyd George’s War Cabinet in December 1916 as Chancellor of the Exchequer, the latter joining Asquith’s 1915 Cabinet as First Lord of the Admiralty. Unionists predominated in Lloyd George’s Coalition Government of December 1916, which helped to restore Ulster Loyalist belief in the British Government’s capacity to maintain the United Kingdom against the disruptive forces of an emerging militant republican nationalism.

         The second major event which was to radicalise Irish Nationalist politics was the Rising in Dublin in April 1916, and the British Government’s ruthless and ill-judged response to it. Within three years, the heirs to the 1916 Rising generated a much more radical demand than the measure of Home Rule involving some form of Ulster exclusion in which the Irish Parliamentary Party had come to acquiesce. The new demand was for an all-Ireland Republic independent of the United Kingdom. This demand was endorsed by the southern Irish electorate in the General Election of December 1918, which returned 78 Sinn Féin candidates, and virtually eliminated the Irish Parliamentary Party, which returned only 6. When the elected representatives of Sinn Féin used their mandate to establish Dáil Éireann as the national parliament, and declined to attend the Imperial Parliament, the Republican demand was formally affirmed in January 1919. It seems not unreasonable to say, as D. G. Boyce remarks, ‘that the partition of Ireland, unthinkable in the Home Rule episodes of 1886 and 1893, but emerging, painfully, as the possible base of some from of compromise in 1913–14 was, after the Easter Rising, hard to avoid.’136 J. L. Garvin, who had followed Irish affairs all his life, writing during the Irish War of Independence in March 1921, was conscious that ‘the triumph of Sinn Féin extremists,’ fighting in the spirit of 1916, would make ‘irreparable the breach between Ulster and the rest’ and by extension, mean Ulster exclusion.137 Patricia Jalland contemplates the possibility that the Irish problem would have been solved between 1911 and 1914 if Asquith had provided special terms for Ulster in the 1912 Home Rule Bill. Such a settlement, she argues, ‘would at least have provided a starting point and offered better prospects for the evolution of a more stable, non-violent relationship between the North and the South of Ireland and Great Britain. This might gradually have developed into Dominion status and ultimate independence for the South, without the tragedy of 1916 and the bloody events of 1919–21.’ At the end of this vista, Jalland even glimpses a United Ireland.138

         The impact of the Rising on popular Irish Nationalism was not immediate. It was, however, quickly followed by British Government action to deal with the Home Rule question. The Rising, and the manner in which it was suppressed, enlarged the international dimension of the Nationalist case for Home Rule, the implementation of which was increasingly seen on all sides as essential to good Anglo-American wartime relations. In August and September 1914, Nationalist leaders, among them Redmond and T. P. O’Connor, had warned British ministers that Irish-American opinion would be active against Britain if Home Rule continued to be postponed. Unionists were being warned by their American sources that ‘incredible harm’ would be done to the British cause if the Irish question remained an active political issue. The Liberal and Conservative Parties were acutely aware of the significance of the Home Rule question in determining the American attitude to the War.139 American pressure on Britain for an Irish settlement intensified as American entry into the war appeared more and more likely. Shortly before declaring war in April 1917, President Wilson asked his Ambassador in London to impress upon Lloyd George that British failure to find a satisfactory system of self government for Ireland was the only circumstance standing in the way of cordial cooperation with Britain by practically all Americans.140 The British Ambassador in Washington, Sir Cecil Spring-Rice, urged his own Government in 1917, just after the American declaration of war, to remove the obstacle to American confidence raised by British treatment of Nationalist Ireland’s demands. Spring-Rice observed that as long as they were not satisfied, Americans cited this as proof that the British were not waging war totally for the freedom of small nations.141 

         At the same time, Imperial pressures were also being exerted on the British Government, most notably by W. M. Hughes, Prime Minister of Australia, who was unable to attend a meeting of the proposed Imperial War Cabinet because of domestic repercussions over the lack of an Irish settlement. Hughes argued that a disaffected Ireland ‘not only makes the ideal of Imperial Unity impossible, but greatly imperils existing Imperial relations and prevents the Empire putting forth maximum manpower and strength.’142 The point made by Hughes about wartime manpower and strength was a telling one. With the need for Irish conscription becoming a pressing issue as the war reached a critical phase and the toll of casualties mounted, it would scarcely be feasible to try to impose conscription on Ireland without first implementing Home Rule.

         Towards the end of May 1916, Lloyd George undertook a new initiative when he outlined proposals for an Ulster settlement to representatives of northern Unionists. A series of settlement proposals formulated in May and June 1916 would, if accepted by representatives of Irish opinion north and south, have meant that the Government of Ireland Act, 1914, would have been brought into operation as soon as possible after the passing of a measure incorporating these proposals. The Act would not apply to the six-county area, which would remain intact during the continuance of the war and for 12 months thereafter, to allow Parliament to make permanent provision for the government of Ireland. It was to be understood that an Imperial conference would consider the permanent settlement of Ireland after the war.143 Carson accepted the proposal to exclude six Ulster counties for the duration of the war, while Redmond conceded that these six counties should be treated as a unit. Relatively small differences now separated the two main disputants, and an agreement might have been concluded between them, but as Jackson observes, Lloyd George’s proposals ‘were ripped apart, not by either Carson or Redmond, but by critics outside the negotiations with other interests to defend.’144 In June 1916, Carson won agreement for the exclusion plan for Cavan, Monaghan and Donegal Unionists not covered by it, while a decided majority of Ulster Nationalists also approved. There remained, however, two critical difficulties. One was that the 200,000 or so southern Unionists outside Cavan, Donegal and Monaghan had not been given a voice in the formulation of the proposals. The other was that Nationalists had understood from Lloyd George that Ulster exclusion would be temporary, while Carson seemed to understand that it would be permanent unless Parliament deemed otherwise. 

         Lloyd George’s scheme thus collapsed because of the degree of concentrated opposition to its implementation. Throughout the negotiations, Carson consistently put the cause of Ulster ahead of the larger interests of Unionism in the rest of Ireland and Britain. Walter Long influenced his Unionist Cabinet colleagues to believe that in his endeavour to reach an Irish settlement, Lloyd George had behaved improperly by failing to secure a basis for agreement among all Irish Unionists, not merely those in the province of Ulster. Led by Viscount Midleton and Lord Lansdowne, southern Unionists formed alliances with Conservative malcontents. Many Nationalists outside East Ulster, who would have been deprived of self government by the scheme, feared the dominance of a triumphant loyalism, an issue that would again come to the fore after the 1920 Government of Ireland Act. The bulk of Conservative members, particularly Peers with southern Irish connections, saw the speedy implementation of Home Rule as a surrender to the treachery of the 1916 Rising.145

         As a token of this, 80 Conservative Unionist MPs publicly expressed opposition to immediate Home Rule. Walter Long undermined Carson’s influence by representing to some of his followers that they had assented to Lloyd George’s proposals under false pretences.146 The collapse of these proposals finally came on 19 July 1916 when British Cabinet Ministers were persuaded by Lansdowne and Long to emphasise the permanence of exclusion, thus causing Redmond to reject the Lloyd George initiative.147 At the Cabinet meeting of 27 July 1916, arrangements were made for burying this agreement.148 On that date, the Cabinet agreed that for the immediate future, ‘the simplest and least disagreeable plan would be to revert for the time being to the old system of a Lord Lieutenant and a Chief Secretary.’149 

         The Irish Parliamentary Party was profoundly demoralised and damaged by the collapse of the Lloyd George initiative. During the period that followed, Redmond and his followers were relatively quiescent while the Sinn Féin programme of radical separatism acquired credibility with much of the electorate. On 5 May 1917, Lloyd George tried another initiative, offering Redmond a choice between immediate Home Rule for the 26 counties and a National convention as a forum for debate on the wider issue of self government for Ireland.150 On 25 July 1917, the Irish Convention assembled, attended by 95 representatives from a wide range of bodies and political interests. Its sole practical function, as Fitzpatrick remarks, was to suggest that ‘the attempt to resolve Ireland’s constitutional future had not been completely abandoned.’151 Two disabling features were the absence of Sinn Féin from the proceedings and the intransigence of the Ulster Unionist delegates, who refused to consider any kind of all-Ireland settlement. The Nationalist Home Rulers were frustrated in their hope of using the Convention, which did not issue its report until 5 April, 1918, for the purpose for which it was set up: an agreed settlement. Meanwhile, Sinn Féin was steadily filling the political vacuum, its democratic strength bound to be augmented by the extension of the franchise for the 1918 General Election. The Irish Convention exposed a divergence of approach between Ulster and southern Unionists. The latter, represented by Viscount Midleton’s Irish Unionist Alliance, were willing to compromise with Constitutional Nationalists, and to accept an Irish Parliament with wide powers, which would at the same time offer safeguards to both Unionist and Imperial interests. When Midleton’s position was rejected by the hardline rank-and-file of the Irish Unionist Alliance, he and his supporters formed the Irish Unionist Anti-Partition League. Although the hardliners were in the majority, most of the experienced and politically influential southern Unionists sided with Midleton, and the Anti-Partition League therefore enjoyed much greater influence at Westminster. Midleton, who had been British Secretary of State for War during the Boer War, was later to play a leading part in securing safeguards for the Unionist community in the Irish Free State, including considerable representation in the Free State Senate.152 The Ulster Unionist demand was for exclusion from the jurisdiction of an Irish parliament and the partition of Ireland. 

         The southern Unionist case against partition was a strong one, particularly from the point of view of non-Ulster loyalism. The exclusion of Ulster would inevitably weaken the influence of southern Loyalists and constitutionalists in a 26-county parliament, which might well be financially straitened by the absence of the wealth and industry of the North East. A strong Unionist minority under an all-Ireland arrangement would act as a corrective to extreme Nationalism, while a United Ireland with safeguards would permit the minority to contribute significantly to the well being of the new Irish State. There was also a fear among southern Unionists that unfavourable treatment of the Catholic minority in a six-county state might bring about retaliation on southern Protestants. Lord Desart, a southern Loyalist and anti-partitionist, one of the advisers to the British Cabinet, declared that the exclusion of Ulster would be ‘a betrayal of the loyal men in the South’, lead to perpetual bitterness between the two parts of Ireland, and result in the establishment of a Sinn Féin government on the flank of England, ‘unchecked by the influence or power of Loyalist elements from the North.’ In short, nothing could be more disastrous to both islands than partition.153

         Southern Unionists were understandably concerned that undue concentration on the Ulster question tended to obscure the opposition to Home Rule among Loyalists, whether Catholic or Protestant, in the rest of Ireland, with the result that the Irish Unionist struggle against Home Rule from 1886 on often appeared in the guise of a conflict between Irish Nationalism and southern Unionism. Irish Nationalists often failed to recognise the necessary divergence between the outlook, ambition and needs of northern and southern Unionists. The former were prepared, and equipped, to resist Home Rule by force of arms if necessary, a course not open to the latter. The great majority of the Nationalist leadership were familiar with Unionism mainly, if not exclusively, in its southern aspect, and understandably thought of northern Unionism as something not essentially different. Lyons reminds us that Parnell underestimated northern Unionists from a southern perspective.154 There was a tendency among Nationalists, seeing southern Unionists as an obsolescent elite, ultimately bound by their circumstances to seek accommodation with the majority, to assume that northern Unionists could not be radically different. Nationalists were aware of the sacrifices many southern Unionists were prepared to make to ensure any form of stable government that would guarantee their lives and property in the partitioned Ireland which they feared might be controlled by extremists. 

         In 1918, one Dublin Unionist, A. F. Blood, believed in ‘joining hands with our Nationalist fellow-countrymen, who look for Unionist co-operation to strengthen their hands in a bona fide contest with anarchy and lawlessness.’155 A significant minority of southern Unionists thought like Blood. Anxious for accommodation with moderate Nationalists, they broke away from the Irish Unionist Alliance, which steadfastly rejected any compromise on Home Rule, and formed their own organisation, the Unionist Anti-Partition League, led by Viscount Midleton, and with the objective of taking their place with all Unionists in a united, self-governing Ireland. The people who took the Ulster resistance seriously were the southern Protestants who feared partition, and who, as Walter Long, on the authority of his southern Unionist connections, reminded Lloyd George in May 1916, ‘held strongly that they had not been sufficiently represented or protected by the Ulster people.’156

         VII THE GOVERNMENT OF IRELAND ACT, 1920: A SETTLEMENT FOR SOME UNIONISTS

         At the end of the Great War, the British Government would be obliged, by the terms of the Home Rule suspensory measure of 1914, to deal with the Irish question. By way of preparation, the Cabinet established a committee on 11 April 1918, with Walter Long as Chairman, to draw up a Bill which would have three broad aims: to preserve the Union and overall British interests, to protect Ulster and southern Unionists, and to give self government to the Irish Nationalist majority as a means of removing an overwhelming British presence from Irish affairs.157 Convinced at this stage that trying to get Ulster Unionists, southern Unionists and the two strands of Irish Nationalism to reach agreement was futile, the Government now sought to formulate a measure which would implement Irish self government and, at the same time, be acceptable to the parties making up the unevenly balanced Lloyd George Coalition and not imperil its survival. By the end of June 1918, Long had drafted a federal scheme in which Ireland would be only one component of a wider United Kingdom and Dominion arrangement. As Long put it in a memorandum of 14 April 1918, it was desirable to devise a measure ‘which would if necessary be adopted as a basis for Federation of the United Kingdom.’158 On 25 July 1918, Lloyd George announced that his Government would not be implementing Home Rule in the foreseeable future, and Long’s Committee was without a purpose. 

         On 7 October 1919, the Government took a decisive step when it appointed a Cabinet sub-Committee, composed of leading members of the two Coalition parties, to advise on Irish policy and to formulate draft legislation which would be the basis of an Irish settlement. This Committee, like the 1918 one, was chaired by Walter Long. It was given the task of drafting a Bill along federalist lines, and of reporting on the likely effect on opinion in Britain and abroad on possible solutions to the Irish problem. The Long Committee issued a report on 4 November 1919. This ruled out county option and an all-Ireland Parliament. Instead, it suggested a federal arrangement involving two Irish parliaments and an overarching Council of Ireland with 20 members from each parliament which would deal with matters of common interest and concern.

         Long, who had more influence with Unionist backbenchers than any other member of the Unionist hierarchy,159 and whose influence on the proceedings and decisions of the Cabinet sub-Committee was decisive, was the ideal choice for the role he was given: to devise a settlement that would deal with the Ulster question on terms acceptable to Ulster Unionists, without losing sight of the concerns of southern Unionists. He had close links to both groups. He had been at the heart of the Ulster resistance to Home Rule, had been deeply implicated in the importation of UVF arms in April 1914 and had contributed to the financing of the operation.160 He was Carson’s predecessor as Ulster Unionist Leader, and had equally close ties with southern Unionists and with southern Irish landowners. Long had been Chief Secretary of the Irish office from March to December 1905, was Chairman of the Irish Unionist Party in the House of Commons from 1906 to 1910, and remained its Vice-Chairman until May 1921. In the course of his work on the 1919 Cabinet sub-Committee, Long was extremely reluctant to sanction a settlement that would make partition permanent. In this he was influenced by his concern for southern Unionists, whose interests would not be served by partition, and by his overriding commitment, shared with other Imperial federalists, to the stability and unity of the British Empire. His strategy was to work for a federalist solution to the Irish problem as a whole, within a British Isles and Imperial framework. Having tried to devise a federalist solution, he then favoured the creation of a nine-county Ulster rather than a six-county one, a choice based on the argument advanced by Carson to Redmond at the Buckingham Palace Conference in 1916: that a nine-county Ulster held out a greater promise of ultimate unity and would be less likely to be final. 

         It must be noted, however, that this Irish settlement about to be shaped by the Long Committee was arrived at in circumstances distinctly unfavourable to the political interests of northern Nationalists. The British General Election of 1918 had resulted in the overwhelming triumph in Irish constituencies of Sinn Féin candidates pledged to abstain from the Westminster Parliament. The Irish MPs who did attend Parliament comprised seven Nationalists and 26 Ulster Unionists. The 73 Sinn Féiners, having abandoned Westminster, and, thus, having forgone any opportunity to influence the proceedings of Long’s Committee, which was to have a permanent influence on the course of Irish politics for generations to come, set up Dáil Éireann as an alternative parliament. This meant a change in the balance of power at Westminster from Nationalism to Unionism. It was left to the seven Nationalist members of the Irish Parliamentary Party to represent the interests of Ulster Nationalism at Westminster in the face of a formidable alliance of Ulster Unionists and Conservatives. As Fitzpatrick remarks, ‘the absence of effective Nationalist representation at Westminster enhanced the influence of the Ulster Unionists in shaping a settlement.’161 The British Cabinet included such active supporters of Ulster Unionism as Bonar Law, Walter Long and the Earl of Birkenhead. Ulster Unionist views were, inevitably, effectively represented to Long’s Committee. In such circumstances, there was little possibility that any settlement of the Home Rule question, or of the Ulster question associated with it, would satisfy the political interests of Ulster Nationalists. The latter could only observe with deep unease the nature of the unanimity displayed by Liberals and Conservatives on the Ulster question, exemplified in the joint manifesto issued in November 1918, outlining the future policy of the Liberal-Conservative Coalition. Lloyd George and Bonar Law, Party leaders in that Coalition, agreed to rule out ‘the forcible submission of the six counties of north-east Ulster to a Home Rule Parliament against their will.’162 This was merely the latest in a series of assurances, real or assumed, given to Ulster Unionists by British political leaders over a long period of time.

         

         VIII THE CHOICE OF UNIT: A DILEMMA FOR UNIONISTS

         Aside from that of partition, the principal question before Long’s Irish Committee, and the one with the greatest long-term implications, was whether the nine-county historic province of Ulster should be the unit excluded from the provisions of Home Rule and given a separate parliament, or whether exclusion should apply to only six counties.163 Here, the Ulster Unionists had long faced a difficult decision. Lloyd George’s pledge of a permanent exclusion of six counties was no doubt reassuring, but it represented a retreat from established Unionist positions. If exclusion were limited to six counties, this would involve the abandonment of the 70,510 Unionists in the border counties of Cavan, Donegal and Monaghan, on the aggregate of which well over 20 per cent of the population was Protestant. The Unionists of these three counties formed an integral part of the 1912 Covenant, and many men from their Ulster Volunteer Force Units were in France with the 36th Ulster Division in 1916 when Carson presented Lloyd George’s six-county exclusion proposals to the Ulster Unionist Council on 12 June. Carson felt obliged to balance the wishes of his supporters in the three border counties against the larger interests of Ulster Unionism. He argued that the best service that the Unionists of Cavan, Donegal and Monaghan could give to the general body of Irish Unionists would be to facilitate the creation of the strongest possible Unionist stronghold in a six-county Ulster, which would include far fewer Nationalists than would a nine-county unit, and thus facilitate the formation of a state in which Unionist dominance would be a permanent feature.164 Alison Phillips offers a more benign interpretation of the northern sacrifice of southern Unionists. ‘The Ulster argument,’ he suggests, ‘was that they were keeping the Covenant in the spirit, if not in the letter, because a separate Ulster Government, with a Catholic minority under it, would be a better guarantee for the just treatment of Protestants in Catholic Ireland than if the whole Protestant body were to form a hopeless minority in a Catholic State.’165 The Unionist leadership issued a statement explaining why its six-county population had been obliged to ‘wring the hands of our brethren in Donegal, Cavan and Monaghan in agony and regret, and bid them good bye if we are to save ourselves…. Nothing but absolute loyalty to the Empire has made this last, and in some respects greatest, sacrifice possible.’166 The statement did not explain what six-county Unionists were saving themselves from: being part of a polity in which they would have formed 56.3 per cent of the population instead of the six-county one in which their percentage was 65.6 per cent. 

         In the course of the debate on the Government of Ireland Bill in the Commons in March 1920, Sir James Craig, who like many of his Ulster Unionist colleagues, was less concerned about the fate of the Protestant minority in the south than about the possible effect of exclusion on whatever Ulster area was chosen, was to provide a frank analysis of the reasons for the Unionist preference for the six-county state: if they had a nine-county parliament with 64 members, the Unionist majority would be three or four, but in a six-county parliament it would be about ten. The three other Ulster counties, he explained, ‘contain some 70,000 Unionists and 226,000 Sinn Féiners and Nationalists, and the addition of that large block of Sinn Féiners and Nationalists would reduce our majority to such a level that no sane man would undertake to carry on a Parliament with it … a couple of Members sick, or two or three Members absent for some accidental reason, might in one evening hand over the entire Ulster Parliament, the entire Ulster position, [to the South]. A dreadful thing to contemplate.’167 Implicit in these comments is that no Unionist politician wanted a state in which the permanence of Unionist rule would be in jeopardy either in 1920 or in the future. What the comments also imply is that the six-county boundary of 1920 always would be, and should be, the defining issue of Northern Ireland politics, all other issues being distractions. The Unionist nightmare which a nine-county Ulster represented was conjured up in a different context in December 1921, when Captain Charles Craig, brother of Sir James, dealt with the boundary commission provided for in the Anglo-Irish Treaty, which ‘may mean that our northern areas will be so cut up that we shall no longer be masters in our own house.’168 The only kind of state acceptable to Unionists was a six-county entity with a sufficiently large population to ensure viability, and whose demographic balance would guarantee perpetual dominance over the Nationalist minority.

         The apparent anomaly of seeking much more territory than was actually Unionist, in electoral or population terms, was of little concern: the overriding issue was how much territory Unionists could safely control. Early in 1920, after Long had visited the north to confer with Ulster Unionist leaders, he reported to Lloyd George on his return that ‘the inclusion of Donegal, Cavan and Monaghan would provide such an access of strength to the Roman Catholic party that the supremacy of the Unionists would be seriously threatened,’169 thus implying that the perpetuation of Unionist supremacy was the sine qua non for any northern state that might emerge as a result of British legislation. Long made it clear that he would not press for a settlement that would put the interests of Ulster Unionists at risk. A majority of the members of his Committee, however, was prepared to recommend the nine-county option as more likely to lead to the unification of Ireland, whereas a six-county Ulster with a deliberately tailored Unionist majority would be permanently divisive. The nine-county option remained the choice of the Committee until 14 February 1920, one day before the first reading of the Government of Ireland Bill was scheduled.170 Despite the conclusions of the Irish Committee, the Cabinet, anxious to have Unionist support for its Government of Ireland Bill, agreed on 24 February 1920, that six of the nine Ulster counties would become a separate political entity, and that this entity, Northern Ireland, would consist of the counties of Antrim, Armagh, Down, Fermanagh, Londonderry and Tyrone and, in addition, the parliamentary boroughs of Belfast and Londonderry. 

         Long, who was given the task of chairing a small committee to guide the Government of Ireland Bill through its committee stage, was concerned that it might not pass, given the lack of interest being taken in it by the Conservative Party MPs, while Liberal and Labour members absented themselves from the proceedings. The Ulster Unionist MPs, as Long observes ‘stood coldly aloof, did not want the Bill and were not inclined to provide the only active support the Bill was likely to get.’ Following secret negotiations with Carson and Craig, Long was made aware of the price demanded by the two Unionist leaders in return for their support: if Ulster Unionists and their associates in the House of Commons actively supported the legislation in the House of Commons, the Government would guarantee the sanctity of the boundaries of a six-county Ulster. Long was authorised by the British Cabinet to give the Unionist leaders a definite pledge that if they agreed to accept the Bill and tried to work it when passed, ‘it would be on the clear understanding that the Six Counties, as settled after the negotiations, should be theirs for good and all, and there should be no interference with the boundaries or anything else, excepting such slight adjustments as might be necessary to get rid of projecting bits, etc.’171 Long gave what he called ‘countless pledges’ that a six-county Ulster would endure and be maintained by the British Government. These pledges would assume a vital importance following the incorporation in the Anglo-Irish Treaty of December 1921 of a clause making provision for boundary adjustment. In 1924, worried that the Labour Government might unwittingly renege on this guarantee, Long confirmed to Lord Londonderry that ‘it was on this distinct pledge that we were able to pass the Government of Ireland Bill with the aid of the Ulstermen.’172 It was to be on what the Sinn Féin Treaty plenipotentiaries regarded as a contradictory pledge, that the territory under the Belfast Parliament would be significantly reduced by a boundary commission, that the British negotiators were able to get an Anglo-Irish Treaty signed. 

         Long’s Irish Committee considered only two methods of meeting Unionist demands: the six-county model and the nine-county one. The nine-county Ulster, which would have placed the 260,000 Nationalists in Donegal, Cavan and Monaghan, under the northern Parliament, would at the same time have gratified the wishes of 70,510 Unionists in the same counties. The demand for a six-county exclusion was being endorsed not only by Craig and his Ulster Unionist colleagues, but also by Sir James O’Connor, a Catholic Loyalist in the south, a Lord Justice who was thought to reflect the views of the Catholic Hierarchy. O’Connor communicated with Lloyd George and Bonar Law, and his submissions were carefully weighed by the Cabinet and the Long Committee.173 There were strong objections among influential sections of Unionism to the partition of historic, nine-county Ulster. Those who objected to the exclusion of these counties from the northern Parliament requested a special meeting of the Ulster Unionist Council on 23 April 1919 to reconsider the matter. At the same time a well-argued pamphlet entitled: Ulster and Home Rule: No Partition of Ulster was published on behalf of Donegal, Cavan and Monaghan Unionists.174 The authors of the pamphlet were obliged to address the fundamental objection of six-county Unionists that a nine-county arrangement, incorporating three overwhelmingly Nationalist counties, might eventually undermine Unionist dominance, the principle on which all Unionist thinking and political action was based.175

         The case made in the pamphlet that in a nine-county state the Unionist majority of 200,000 would still guarantee a substantial parliamentary majority, was not wholly convincing for some Unionists seeking a perpetually secure dominance. Other arguments against the partition of Ulster were, however, well made. One in particular suggested that any form of partition, but above all the six-county one, could not be based on a self-consistent, principled approach. The authors of the pamphlet observed that every argument that might be employed to justify their exclusion from an Ulster government might with equal validity be used in favour of excluding Derry City, Tyrone, Fermanagh, south Armagh, south Down and the Falls area of Belfast. There were also the strong economic and geographic arguments that much of the trade of Belfast was with the whole of historic Ulster, that the trade of Donegal was almost entirely with Derry and that Cavan and Monaghan formed ‘a natural boundary to the South of Ulster, and Monaghan runs up to a point between Tyrone and Armagh into the very heart of the province.’176 One line of argument, that a six-county parliament would become parochial and that the Unionist majority would be too large for its own good, had much to recommend it. As Fraser remarks, all of the arguments advanced in the pamphlet ‘made perfect sense in the context of the government’s aim of accommodating Ulster inside a framework which would encourage Irish unity.’177 To the great majority of six-county Unionists, at this stage, however, any kind of Irish unity, even if this involved the closest links with Britain, had far less attraction than the creation of a distinctively Unionist state. 

         IX DEFENDING THE 1920 ACT

         In the Commons on December 22, 1919, Lloyd George offered an extremely able and coherent exposition of the main outlines of the Government of Ireland Bill, and of the considerations underlying its provisions. Two fundamental facts had to be taken into account. The majority in Ireland claimed the right to control their own domestic concerns, without interference from Englishmen, Scotsmen and Welshmen. It was also a fact that a considerable section of the people of Ireland were just as opposed to Irish rule as the majority were to British rule. The legislation he was proposing, in its Ulster aspect, had to confront the problem that in the North East there was a solid, homogeneous population, alien in race, sympathy, religion, tradition and outlook from the rest of the population, and that it would be an outrage on the principle of self government to place them under the rule of the rest of the population: to do so would alienate the best elements of northern Unionism from the machinery of law and order. With his accustomed dexterity, Lloyd George invoked the testimony of two Catholic priests in support of his ethical defence of Ulster exclusion. One was Father O’Flanagan, ‘a very able Catholic priest,’ who found it objectionable that Nationalists might reject Home Rule rather than agree to the exclusion of the Unionist part of Ulster. The other was Walter MacDonald, a Professor of Theology at Maynooth, who had claimed that were Ireland made an independent Republic, she would be bound to allow Home Rule to the North-East corner, on the principles underlying the Nationalist claim for Home Rule within the United Kingdom. A third fundamental argument underlying the Bill was that ‘any arrangement by which Ireland is severed from the United Kingdom, either nominally or in substance and, in fact, would be fatal to the interests of both’.178 This argument was to persist during the Treaty negotiations. 

         The Government of Ireland Bill was based on three fundamental realities outlined by Lloyd George. His three main legislative proposals were framed to deal with these realities: Ireland must remain an integral part of the United Kingdom; self government must be conferred upon Ireland in all its domestic concerns; and two parliaments, not one, must be set up in Ireland. The powers to be remitted to these two local parliaments were not extensive: the control of Irish finance, for example, was to remain with the Imperial Parliament at Westminster. However, each Irish Parliament would have control of domestic services such as education, local government, justice and social welfare. The Westminster Parliament would retain control of foreign policy, external trade and the armed services. The Northern Ireland Parliament could not impose or collect customs, excise duties, income tax or taxes on profits or capital. The Imperial Parliament would retain 88 per cent of revenue derived from Northern Ireland, and control 60 per cent of its expenditure. There were few safeguards for the minority in the south and west of Ireland. Irish constituencies would retain some parliamentary representation at Westminster. The Bill, which became the Government of Ireland Act of 1920, had one paradoxical feature. It did not exclude six counties from the jurisdiction of a Dublin parliament, the constant demand of Ulster Unionists, but instead applied Home Rule to Northern Ireland. The 1920 ‘Partition Act’ had profoundly contrasting implications for the two northern communities. Northern Nationalists found partition no less objectionable than Ulster exclusion from Home Rule, and now found themselves ‘an embattled minority sidelined by all the major protagonists’: for them ‘subjection to northern Protestant control was an even less agreeable prospect than perpetuation of direct Home Rule under the Union.’179

         A significant difference between the 1919 proposals and the Act of 1914 was that every opportunity would now be afforded to Irish people to establish unity: the Council of Ireland proposed in the Bill would constitute the obvious agency from which the two parliaments would ensure that certain common services, such as railways and canals, which it would be undesirable to divide, could be administered as a single Irish service. The Bill would endow the two Irish legislatures with full constituent powers so that they could, without further reference to the Imperial Parliament, and by identical legislation, create a single Irish legislature. The Irish unity provision in the Bill reflected the British Government position under Lloyd George that the Ulster Unionists should ideally join the Free State. The logic of this preference was that such an outcome would have the consequence of strengthening the Imperialist element in the south, and thereby diminish the likelihood that the Free State would break away from the Empire. The same British preference was evident in the complexion of the Anglo-Irish Treaty, in particular the boundary clause, but also the financial provisions, which, it is plausible to argue, were framed to persuade the northern Government to reunite with the rest of Ireland. This analysis runs counter to a common perception among Nationalist apologists that partition was the work of British politicians anxious to defend the Loyalists of Ulster against the perceived dangers of living under a Dublin parliament. In effect, the ultimate architects of partition were the Ulster Unionists and the southern Nationalists. The former were able to insist on exclusion from an all-Ireland settlement, a course which inevitably meant partition, while the latter were not willing to diminish the degree of sovereignty they had over 26 counties, even if this meant submitting to partition. On this view, both sides can be seen to have preferred sovereignty over their respective areas to the kind of unity favoured by Lloyd George and his Government from 1919 to 1921.

         Lloyd George revealed that four different proposals had been discussed by the Cabinet sub-Committee in relation to the area of Ulster to be excluded, outlined the major objections to three of these, and enlarged on the merits of the fourth. The first proposal, that the whole of Ulster should form one unit, was open to the objection that this would leave a large area ‘where there is a predominantly Catholic and Celtic population in complete sympathy with the Southern population.’ The second suggestion – county option – would be unacceptable because it would have solid communities of Protestants in sympathy with the Unionist state outside it, under a government to which they were hostile. The third suggestion considered was that the six north-eastern counties should form a unit. Here, Lloyd George identified the problem which, because it was made part of the 1920 Bill and not solved by the Boundary Commission, would only serve to create long-term damage to north-south relationships, intensify bitterness and a sense of grievance among border Nationalists, and, thus, a dysfunctional northern state would result. It is worth noting that Lloyd George, in somewhat ambiguous language, seemed to look at the problem posed by a state incorporating the entire six counties not from the point of view of the potential Catholic victims, but from that of the large Unionist majority. Recognising the presence of ‘solid Catholic communities in at least two of these counties conterminous with the Southern population,’ it would, he suggested, ‘be undesirable from the point of view of the North-Eastern Province to attach them to the Ulster Parliament.’180 One assumes that by ‘the North-Eastern Province’ Lloyd George meant a six-county state.

         The most significant aspect of Lloyd George’s analysis of the four proposals for choosing the appropriate Ulster unit for exclusion was his implicit recommendation of the fourth proposal as a means of avoiding the dangers posed if the third were implemented. The fourth proposal was that a homogeneous north-eastern section should be ascertained, and constituted as a separate, excluded area, ‘taking the six counties as a basis, eliminating, where practicable, the Catholic communities, whilst including Protestant communities from the conterminous Catholic counties of Ireland, in order to produce an area as homogeneous as it is possible to achieve under these circumstances.’ Had this kind of exercise been performed prior to the passing of the 1920 Act, the history of Northern Ireland and of Ireland as a whole might well have been much different. For one thing, a boundary commission would not have been considered on the Irish side as an essential component of the Anglo-Irish Treaty of 1921.

         X OTHER POSSIBILITIES

         The British preoccupation with county boundaries meant that the possibility of creating a border much more in accord with the wishes of inhabitants than the six-county one, received little or no consideration. The parliamentary constituency boundaries established by the Redistribution of Seats Act (Ireland), 1917, would have provided a much more refined basis upon which to mark out a partition line. Had those who drafted the 1920 Act based a northern state on those constituencies which had returned Unionist members in 1918, its territorial extent would have been considerably less than the six-county unit that emerged. The constituencies of Derry City, south Down, south Armagh, south Fermanagh, north-west and north-east Tyrone would have been assigned to the Free State, while the result would still have made geographical sense. This arrangement would still have given the northern state a Catholic population of 28 per cent. Of six-county Catholics, 148,239 would have been placed south of the border, along with 96,197 Protestants.181 Partition based on local government rural district boundaries would also have been more equitable than the six-county one, and given a Catholic population of 26 per cent to the northern state.182 Had a boundary been based not on the results of the elections in the northern constituencies but on the declared religious affiliations of the populations of these constituencies – as recorded in the most recent census of 1911 – the total population of Northern Ireland would have been 939,047, consisting of 690,808 Unionists and 248,239 Nationalists. The Nationalist percentage would have been 26.5. Under this arrangement, 185,922 Catholics would have been on the Free State side of the border, and 129,562 Protestants. The six-county partition arrangement had the advantage of geographical tidiness, achieved, however, at the cost of ethnic homogeneity. An arrangement based on the 1918 constituencies would have been less tidy geographically but much more homogeneous. Another scheme canvassed by Nationalists had the advantage of leaving far fewer dissatisfied Nationalists in a more homogeneous state. This would have involved the exclusion from the northern state of the predominantly Nationalist areas of West Ulster, in practice Tyrone and Fermanagh. 

         Not all apologists for Unionism thought it wise to insist on a six-county state. In July 1914, Lord Milner told Carson that ‘there is no particular virtue in counties that I can see, as long as the excluded area is one solid block.’ Milner, however, thought that if the six counties were secured to begin with, ‘it might be worthwhile to swap bits of them, south Down and south Armagh, for instance, for bits of Monaghan and Donegal.’183 The strongly pro-Unionist Editor of The Spectator, St Loe Strachey, in a letter to a ‘very able Ulster Protestant,’ Professor McElderry of University College, Galway, argued that the ideal plan from a Unionist point of view, ‘might have been to take Ulster as a whole and then cast out therefrom as many Catholic districts, unions and parishes as could possibly be eliminated, subject to the absolute and imperative anti-island rule.’ Strachey was anxious to avoid large Catholic enclaves in the northern state. He would ‘cut out every district in which there was a Catholic majority of over say 60 per cent, provided it always was conterminous with some portion of the non-Protestant segment of Ireland.’ He looked forward to the decision of some ‘enlightened Boundary Commission, which would go through the map, parish by parish, intent upon getting nothing but the maximum homogeneity for the North-East Ulster area.’He would like to see one qualification on the work of such a commission: an automatic rule by which ‘parishes within a year of separation could on their mere motion demand to come in or out of the Protestant Ireland,’ subject to the rule that islands must never be created. 

         One of Strachey’s ideas, if implemented, might have led to the avoidance of much later trouble. ‘As to making the border-line rather like a jig-saw puzzle,’ he told McElderry, ‘I shouldn’t mind if thereby I got more concentration and more homogeneity both for the Roman Catholics and for the Protestants.’ He suggested transplantation as a further means of securing homogeneity: the grant of ‘a couple of millions to be spent in bringing Protestant farmers and tradesmen from the South up into Ulster and taking Roman Catholics from Protestant Ulster districts and putting them into the South.’184 Carson, to whom Strachey communicated similar views, replied that the ultimate shape of the northern state was something to be determined by the practical consideration of what would ensure lasting Unionist predominance.185 The de facto partition of Cyprus in 1974, which sacrificed the then normative principle of territorial integrity to minority self-determination, showed how Strachey’s scheme for transferring ethnic minorities from north to south and vice versa might have worked out in practice. It is interesting to note that in April 1923, before the establishment of the Boundary Commission, Wilfred Spender, the Secretary to the northern Cabinet, wrote to a Church of Ireland clergymen in Clones, J. R. Mearn, that Craig was ‘most anxious to include in Northern Ireland certain districts in Donegal and Monaghan [later to be recommended for transfer from the Free State by the Boundary Commission] where there is a splendid type of Loyalist population.’ Craig was suggesting that if the Free State would agree to let each of its border counties bargain with its opposite number in Northern Ireland regarding the transfer of equal areas and populations, ‘there would be a great prospect of an amicable settlement being arrived at which would prove to the advantage of the North and South.’186

         It has often been argued that northern Unionists insisted on retaining six counties intact because a revised boundary involving the loss of substantial territory with Nationalist majorities would leave the entity that remained economically unsustainable. This was a central issue during the Treaty negotiations. On the Irish side, enthusiasm for the Boundary Commission was largely associated with the belief inspired by the suggestions of Lloyd George, that it would recommend handing over to the south areas of such large extent that the northern state must collapse.187 It is by no means certain, however, that even a much reduced, and more homogeneous, northern state would not have survived. Several commentators have made a reasonable case for the proposition that the separate political survival of northern Unionism did not depend on keeping the entire area of the six counties. The Unionist historian, Tom Wilson, argues that a substantial transfer of six-county territory to the south ‘could have left the Unionists with an almost impregnable, if smaller, area which might also have been to the advantage of the remaining minority who would have been living with a more secure and therefore, perhaps, more tolerant majority.’ Wilson further suggests that a smaller northern state would have been strengthened, not weakened, economically ‘by removing some of the poorer rural areas’.188 Wilson also argues that it would surely have been wholly beneficial to have got rid of ‘the fiercely Republican salient at Crossmaglen in the interests of a more defensible boundary.’ At a conference with members of the Free State Government in January 1924, E. M. Stephens, Secretary of the Boundary Bureau, claimed that it would be easier for the northern government to carry on ‘if they were relieved of Tyrone and Fermanagh’. This would give ‘a more homogeneous population which would be more industrially concentrated, and involve less police work. At the same conference, Kevin O’Higgins was anxious to explore the idea that ‘relief from Tyrone and Fermanagh would render the North more financially sound.’189
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